IMMIGRATION-RELATED STRESS AND RESILIENCE: MEASURING DIFFERENCES IN LATINO COLLEGE STUDENTS BASED ON DOCUMENTATION STATUS AND IMMIGRANT STATUS

A Dissertation

by

MARIANELA DORNHECKER

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee, Committee Members,

Head of Department,

Lizette Ojeda Daniel Brossart Linda Castillo Edward Murguia Victor L. Willson

August 2016

Major Subject: Counseling Psychology

Copyright 2016 Marianela Dornhecker

ABSTRACT

Latino immigrant college students, especially those with undocumented status, tend to experience increased number and levels of risk factors related to physical health, academic, and mental health outcomes yet have better mental health, overall health, and academic performance compared to US born Latinos and non-Hispanic White Americans. These counter-intuitive results have been dubbed the immigrant paradox. Some studies suggest that a unique source of stress for immigrant college students may be the stress related to the immigration process; however, other research suggests that immigration-related stress can be present among many Latinos, regardless of immigrant or documentation status. The purpose of the current study is twofold; 1) To determine whether risk and protective factors can accurately differentiate students based on immigrant status (immigrant and US born Latinos) and documentation status (stable and unstable status), and 2) To examine whether grit, socioeconomic status, bicultural identity, and problem-solving orientation significantly predict level of immigrationrelated stress. Rather than focusing on undocumented status exclusively, this study compares Latino college students with unstable status (i.e., status that does not guarantee permanent stay in the US) and stable status (i.e., status that is considered legally longterm). Results indicate that immigration-related stress, grit, and college GPA reliably and at a statistically significant level categorized group membership based on immigrant status (immigrant or US-born) and documentation status (stable or unstable), and the variables more accurately categorized group membership based on documentation status.

ii

Finally, immigration-related stress was statistically and significantly predicted by lower social status and higher cultural conflict when controlling for legal documentation status.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my family who has supported me every step of the way. To my husband, Cody, for his patience, humor, and for being my biggest cheerleader. To my father, Luis, who has pushed me harder than anyone to be my best. To my mother, Gaby, for always making me feel like I can do anything. To my sister, Andrea, for inspiring me to enjoy life to its fullest.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to first acknowledge my dissertation chair, Lizette Ojeda, PhD. Thank you for introducing to the world of Latino psychology research and the community. Your guidance and mentorship help me develop a professional interest that is truly grounded in my personal identity. I would also like to acknowledge my dissertation committee, Daniel Brossart, PhD, Linda Castillo, PhD, and Edward Murguia, PhD. You have been instrumental in my professional development. Thank you for your investment and interest in this project. I would also like to acknowledge: Jamilia Blake, PhD, James Deegear, PhD, Iris Carillo, PhD, Timothy Elliott, PhD, William Rae, PhD, and Charles Ridley, PhD. You have all provided me with important lessons and priceless mentorship throughout the last four years. Each of you has shaped an important part of my personal and professional identity and have been role-models for my future career.

I would like to thank all of my friends and colleagues who have been an important support system throughout my graduate education. I would like to specifically acknowledge Carly McCord, PhD, Brandy Piña-Watson, PhD, Jeremy Saenz, Jessica Chang, Jo Ellyn Walker, and Daniel Sullivan. Each and every one of you has provided me with great memories, laughs, hugs, and have lifted me up at times when I needed it the most. No person is an island, and I don't believe I could have accomplished my goals without the wonderful community of family, mentors, and friends that has surrounded me. Most importantly, I would like to acknowledge the Texas DREAMer and DREAMer ally associations, without whom this work would not have been possible.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	. ii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	. 1
Immigration-related Stress	. 7
Documentation Status in the US	10
Measurement of Immigration-related Stress	13
Immigrant Paradox	15
Resiliency Theory	21
Risk and Protective Factors	22
Durnose	22
1 uipose	21
CHAPTER II METHODOLOGY	30
Participants	30
Procedures	32
Measures	33
CHAPTER III RESULTS	39
Data Analysis Plan	39
Preliminary Analysis	43
Main Analysis	46
CHAPTER IV DISCUSSION, LIMITATIONS, AND CONCLUSION	52
Immigrations-related Stress Scale	53
Differences Based on Documentation Status	54
Differences Based on Immigrant Status	57
Conclusions Based on Combined Results	58
Factors Affecting Immigration-related Stress	60
Limitations and Future Directions	67
Clinical Implications	66
Conclusion	67
Conclusion	07

REFERENCES	68
APPENDIX A	86
APPENDIX B	91

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Latino youth experience daily stressors, discrimination, and barriers to education, careers, and other achievements throughout their development. Such struggles contribute to the low representation of Latinos in higher education (Pyne & Means, 2013). Rather than focusing on explaining the reason for such struggles, some researchers have started to incorporate a positive psychology and resiliency approach when studying Latino youth, often focusing on young Latinos in high school or college who have been successful in education. Most recently, scholars who have conducted research within the Latino community have begun to focus on the experiences of immigrant students, specifically undocumented young adults and adolescents who entered the country as children to better understand the impact of immigration and undocumented status on their development (Abrego, 2006; Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Ceballo, 2004; Contreras, 2009; Drachman, 2006; Enriquez, 2011; Gomez & Hawkins, 2012; Gonzales, 2010, 2011; Huber & Malagon, 2007; Pérez, Cortés, Ramos, & Coronado, 2010; Suarez-Orozco, Yoshikawa, Teranishi, & Suarez-Orozco, 2011).

Latino immigrants who attend college may have a different experience and route to college than their native born counterparts. For example, research has found that adult US born Latinos have a college attendance rate of 42% while adult Latino immigrants have an attendance rate of 25% (Rooney, 2002 as cited in Hernandez & Lopez, 2004). It may be that Latino immigrants are experiencing a more tenuous road to college, thus the lower college attendance rates, and that those Latino immigrants who attend college may be uniquely resilient given that they are able to remain in college despite low representation. For example, Hao and Ma (2012) stated:

Postsecondary education is not free and is embedded in higher education institutions, presenting potentially greater barriers than secondary education to low-SES youth, particularly of racial–ethnic minorities. The attributes associated with the self-selected immigrant parents—high motivations, upward mobile orientation, and huge hopes for their children, coupled with the agency of the children in navigating the higher learning institutions— could potentially help overcome these barriers. (p.280)

In this study, it was found that immigrant college students from diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds fared better in college attendance and Bachelor's degree attainment than their third generation counterparts when factors such as SES and parental education were controlled (Hao & Ma, 2012). It is important to understand the sources of resiliency for Latino college students while considering documentation and immigrant status. Such an approach can lead to understanding how the intersection of documentation and immigrant status relate to resiliency via risk and protective factors.

To measure the effects of documentation status, this study focuses on stability of status because the literature suggests that concerns about legal documentation and legal limitations results in an added burden that those with legal permanent status do not have or experience directly (Gonzales, 2010, 2011, 2012). In the current study, documentation status is categorized into stable and unstable status. These categories were created for the purposes of the current study and include 1) individuals who are not

highly regulated by the government and who have a long-term right to live in the country (stable status), and 2) individuals who are highly regulated by the government, who have few rights, and either do not have a right or have only a limited right to live in the country (unstable status). These categories were created based on suggestions by Gonzales (2010, 2011, & 2012) that frequent encounters with the legal system adds stress. In other words, individuals who have to frequently face legal barriers, government inspection, or actively hide from such regulation because of their documentation status will likely experience more stress than those individuals whose documentation status is not subject to this type of scrutiny. Stable status refers to Latinos who have legal residency in the US on a permanent and guaranteed to almost-guaranteed basis, and includes native-born US citizens, naturalized US citizens, and permanent residents. While permanent residents hold green cards that expire every 10 years, they do not need to reapply for legal residence in the US, rather they simply have to request a new green card every 10 years (U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, 2011). Unstable status refers to Latinos who are not considered legal residents of the US and either have no legal rights for residency in the US or have temporary rights that are highly regulated, limited and require frequent renewal. For example, many visa holders do not have the right to work, have limited options in the types of jobs they can hold, can easily lose their work permits, and must immediately report any change of residence to the government (U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, 2011). This includes undocumented Latinos (e.g., immigrants who have never had legal documentation in the U.S., Latinos with expired documentation (e.g., expired tourist or student visa), and

temporary non-immigrant visa holders (e.g., tourist or student visa). Unstable status also includes individuals with Deferred Action for Childhood Arrival (DACA) status. DACA refers to temporary US stay that defers deportation of undocumented students entering the country prior to their 16th birthday and who will complete or have completed at least 2 years of post-secondary education or 2 years of military service and requires renewal every 2 years (Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). This study focuses on stability of status due to research suggesting that having to worry about legal documentation concerns, such as renewal of visas, and legal limitations, including employment, financial aid, or driving limitations, results in an added burden that those with legal permanent status do not have or experience directly (Gonzales, 2010, 2011, 2012). By focusing on stability of status, the experiences of Latino students with unstable status who are not strictly undocumented can be captured. The previous research examining documentation status has focused solely on undocumented status, which may miss concerns experienced by those who hold other forms of unstable status. This is important because their frequent encounters with legal barriers and legal residency concerns can be a source of stress.

The study also focuses on immigrant status as separate from documentation status. Immigrant status is broken down into immigrant and US born status. Immigrants include individuals born outside of the US and can include Latinos with both stable and unstable status. US born Latinos are native-born US citizens and by definition only include Latinos with stable documentation status. This breakdown is based on the immigrant paradox that suggests immigrants tend to have better physical health, mental health, and educational outcomes than native-born individuals from similarly

disadvantaged backgrounds (Crosnoe, 2012; Hernandez, Denton, Macartney, & Blanchard; 2012). While evidence for the immigrant paradox, a term used to refer to broad research findings that suggest immigrants tend to have better physical health, mental health, and educational outcomes than nonimmigrant individuals from similarly disadvantaged backgrounds (Crosnoe, 2012; Hernandez, Denton, Macartney, & Blanchard, 2012), has been found in some children of immigrants (i.e., 2nd generation native born Latinos), the findings supporting an immigrant paradox in 2nd generation Latinos are not as consistent as those found with first generation Latinos (Hernandez et al., 2012). For example, while delinquency is nearly always found to be lower among Latino immigrants when compared to third generation Latinos or other racial/ethnic groups, these findings are less consistent in research studies that compare second generation Latinos with third generation Latinos and other racial/ethnic groups (Hernandez et al., 2012). Therefore, all native born Latinos were grouped together, regardless of generational status. This study is focused on the resiliency of Latino college students, and on determining if increased exposure, both to protective and risk factors, makes Latino college students with unstable status or immigrant status more resilient than their Latino college student counterparts with stable status or US born status. In addition, this study is focused on the resiliency factors that may lead to a better ability to cope with the stress associated with the immigration process.

Undocumented Latino students face a number of stressors related to their documentation status such as mixed messages of acceptance into the host society (i.e., inclusion in public school system) and messages of rejection from the host society (i.e.,

denial of in-state tuition in college), experiencing the consequences of undocumented immigration or status that was out of their control, and added discrimination because of being undocumented (Ellis & Chen, 2013; Morales, Herrera, & Murry, 2009). Students' fear of deportation can limit their communication with other peers and faculty in postsecondary institutions (Contreras, 2009). Undocumented young adults often discussed not asking for help and resources because of fear of deportation and feelings of shame (Diaz-Strong & Meiners, 2007), which can have negative consequences on their academic success. The fear of being personally discovered or the discovery of undocumented family members often leads to feelings of isolation (Contreras, 2009). Latino students with stable documentation status may also experience immigrationrelated stress for a number of factors, including unstable documentation status of family members or perceived discrimination when a member of the host culture ascribes undocumented status to an individual because of external features (Hall & Soli, 2010; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010; Romero, 2008).

Latino college students may often experience distress from discrimination, and those from mixed status families or with personal unstable status may experience daily immigration-related stress. It is currently unclear if stress related to immigration fears and perception of immigration-related problems, is present for US born Latinos and immigrants with stable status because it has not been directly measured before. As documentation status is a hidden status that can be assumed by others because of Latino stereotypes, students with stable status may perceive immigration-related discrimination because of the assumptions of others. It may be the case that immigration-related stress

is present to some degree for immigrants with stable status and US born Latinos, but is present to a greater degree in immigrants with unstable status.

Immigration-Related Stress

Unstable status. Stressors related to unstable status can result in increased stress that affects mental health outcomes and quality of life. These stressors include experiences of poverty, having a minority ethnic status, and experiences as an individual with unstable status living in the U.S. Few studies have focused on the adverse experiences of being an undocumented Latino college student, and even fewer studies have explored the direct link between these experiences and mental health (Gonzales, Suarez-Orozco, & Dedios-Sanguineti, 2013). In addition, studies focusing on the undocumented experience do not include other types of unstable status resulting in a lack of understanding of the experiences of these individuals. Given that their encounter and fear of the legal system in the U.S. is similar for Latinos with unstable status, the research on experiences of being undocumented may be generalizable to other types of unstable status. Among the limited research, interviews with undocumented college students revealed they experience many averse events such as identity formation disruption because of legal barriers encountered, negative societal messages, experiences of disempowerment, uncertainty, isolation, and chronic fear of deportation (Gonzales et al., 2013). Many of these experiences can lead to adverse mental health outcomes.

There has been some documentation of the effect of unstable status and migration on the anxiety and depression levels of Latinos. Adolescents with undocumented status and those from families with mixed documentation status

(immediate family members with individuals possessing both stable and unstable status) were at greater risk for anxiety (Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). Concerns over deportation were related to emotional distress including depression, anxiety, and anger (Cavazos-Rehg, Zayas, & Spitznagel, 2007). In a study comparing the health outcomes of undocumented Latino immigrants, documented Latino immigrants, and US born Latinos, it was found that undocumented Latino immigrants had higher incidences of anxiety, adjustment disorder, substance abuse problems, and a higher level of psychosocial stressors (Pérez & Fortuna, 2005). In a review of the literature, undocumented status was determined to be a unique risk profile for adverse mental health outcomes, and was associated with shame/guilt, fear, vulnerability/exploitation, limited resources, and restricted mobility (Sullivan & Rehm, 2005). On the other hand, support from an important mentor or teacher has been related to decreased levels of depression and anxiety in children and adolescents who are either undocumented or from mixed-status families (Potochnick & Perreira, 2010) and more hope for the future (Gonzales et al., 2013) suggesting that positive experiences and resources may mitigate the effects of unstable status. As some of the studies above suggest, immigration-related stress is not limited to personal unstable status, but may also be present among Latinos with stable documentation and from mixed status families.

Immigration-related stress among those with stable status. Some Latino college students with stable status come from mixed-status families. That is a family where one or more parents has unstable status and children from the family include children with both stable and unstable status (Fix & Zimmermann, 2001). It is estimated that 63% of

children born to undocumented immigrant parents are US citizens (Passel, 2006). This suggests that legal immigration concerns have the potential to affect Latinos who are US born. Documentation and visa issues affect those with stable documentation status when their family composition is of mixed-status (Hall & Soli, 2010). For example, adolescents with stable immigrant status were at significantly greater risk for anxiety and marginally greater risk for depression if they came from a family with mixed status (Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). It is suggested that fear for family members and fear of family separation due to deportation may contribute to increased experiences of anxiety and depression (Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). Environmental experiences may also contribute to increased mental health issues. For example, US Immigration and Customs Enforcement deportation raids in three separate confidential locations resulted in the removal of at least one parent from a family home, and 66% of the children in these homes were US citizens (Capps, Castaneda, Chaudry, & Santos, 2007). Previous research suggests that parental undocumented status affects US citizen children from a very early age and can have long-term effects on their mental health and educational development (Yoshikawa & Kalil, 2011). These findings suggest that immigrationrelated issues have the potential to affect all Latinos, regardless of documentation status.

In addition, documentation investigations to confirm legal status in the US can potentially affect Latinos regardless of their documentation status. These laws allow for legal racial and ethnic profiling in which certain physical characteristics, skin color, language used, indicators of poverty, style of dress, and speaking English with an accent could be used as probable cause for law enforcement to inspect an individual for proper

documentation status (Romero, 2008). Romero (2008) documents that a citizenship inspection in Arizona targeted Latino families with stable and unstable status, and placed an undue hardship on families and individuals with particular physical characteristics, of lower SES, and who outwardly appear less acculturated. While fear of deportation tends to be higher among undocumented immigrants, Latinos with documentation also can experience deportation fears (Arbona et al., 2010). In this study, one-third of documented Latino immigrants experienced fear of deportation (Arbona et al., 2010). In addition, experiencing immigration hardships was related to increased extra-familial acculturative stress regardless of documentation status (Arbona et al., 2010). While immigration-related stress may be higher for immigrants, especially those with unstable documentation status, the research presented above suggests that US born Latinos also encounter immigration-related stress either through concern for family members or discrimination by others. Documentation status is a hidden identity, and discrimination based on documentation status may cause distress to many Latinos regardless of immigrant or documentation status because of stereotyping of Latinos by members of the majority culture.

Documentation Status in the US

Unstable immigrant status is defined as immigrant status that does not guarantee a long-term stay in the host country and is related to more legal barriers and limitations. Undocumented youth are the most commonly measured group of students with unstable documentation status, but the group includes both Deferred Action for Childhood Arrival (DACA) protection holders (a recent legal category that previously qualified as

undocumented) and students with temporary non-immigrant visas who have the intention to stay in the host country. The literature will focus on the experiences of undocumented youth due to the limited information available for DACA holders given its recent emergence as a status and temporary non-immigrant visa holders.

Undocumented college students. For many undocumented students, the last two years of high school is their first encounter with the full extent of their legal limitations (Gonzales, 2011). This may be the first time they experience legal exclusions, such as being barred from obtaining a driver's license, denial from certain summer jobs or internships, and an inability to fill out financial aid applications (Gonzales, 2011). Many students report feeling lied to, changes in emotional well-being, self-view, and feeling fear or stigmatized for the first time during this discovery period (Gonzales, 2011). Some may decrease their educational aspirations because of beliefs that a bachelor's degree will be unobtainable because of their legal limitations. Latino high school students anticipating immigration problems were less likely to pursue postsecondary plans than students who did not anticipate future immigration problems (McWhirter, Ramos, & Medina, 2013). In addition, witnessing other undocumented family members trapped in menial jobs despite an education may further deter undocumented students from pursuing higher education (Abrego, 2006).

Undocumented students may be unmotivated to invest time and money into a college degree because of the increased cost of higher education for them, and the difficulty of using their degree after graduation. In a 2-year ethnographic study, several undocumented students cited existing legal barriers as reasons for not going to college

(Abrego, 2006). Upon graduating, undocumented students are barred from accessing careers within their degree unless they were able to regulate their status (Abrego & Gonzales, 2010). These individuals are aware of their limited opportunities upon graduation, and often express concern or anxiety regarding their future (Contreras, 2009; Diaz-Strong & Meiners, 2007). Previous research suggests that college students with unstable status are uniquely resilient and strong individuals because of increased structural barriers that students with unstable status face. Through legal mandates, some undocumented students have been able to regulate their status on a temporary basis.

Deferred action for childhood arrivals (DACA). In August of 2012, the Obama administration passed the Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) executive order (Batalova, Hooker, Capps, Bachmeier, & Cox, 2013; Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). This order defers deportation of undocumented students meeting requirements for residency under the Development, Relief, and Education for Alien Minors (DREAM) Act for a two-year period and will require frequent renewal until the DREAM Act passes (Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). In addition to delaying deportation, students who establish financial need can also gain employment benefits during that 2-year period (Gonzales, Terriquez, & Ruszczyk, 2014; Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). The bill is intended to buy students time while they wait for the enactment of the DREAM Act (Gonzales et al., 2014). The opportunity to regulate one's status through DACA is a legal win for undocumented youth in the US; however, they still face uncertainty in their future, and this opportunity has been documented to be limited to undocumented individuals with higher levels of education and access to more community resources (Gonzales et al.,

2014). Their status is unstable, requires frequent renewal, and is dependent on the passage of the DREAM Act (Batalova et al., 2013; Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). If the DREAM Act fails to pass, these students will lose their protected status. In addition, all DACA holders were undocumented immigrants up until very recently (Batalova et al., 2013; Gonzales et al., 2014; Singer & Svajlenka, 2013). They share many of the life experiences of undocumented college students, and their documentation status may still be a large part of their identity (Gonzales et al., 2014). It is important to understand the characteristics, developmental trajectories, and barriers encountered by Latino college students with unstable status, and compare these experiences to Latino college students with stable status to better understand the differences between the two groups.

Measurement of Immigration-Related Stress

The above described barriers and experiences encountered by students with unstable status, the fear that may be present due to concern of deportation of self or close others, and the perceived experiences of exclusion and discrimination because of other's perception of one's status are all concerns that were described by Latino's through interviews in previous qualitative studies (Abrego, 2006; Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Arbona et al., 2010; Ceballo, 2004; Contreras, 2009; Drachman, 2006; Enriquez, 2011; Gomez & Hawkins, 2012; Gonzales, 2010, 2011, 2012; Hall & Soli, 2010; Huber & Malagon, 2007; Pérez et al., 2010; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010; Romero, 2008; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011). Researchers have used information gathered from semi-structured interviews with their target population of interest to create scales that would measure a variable of interest, and this strategy has been used with Latinos as the population of interest. For example, in creation of a Hispanic stress scale, Cervantes, Padilla, and Salgado de Snyder (1991) used semi-structured interviews for sampling procedures to develop the items in the scale. This methodology is suggested when developing scales intended to measure potentially stressful events (Dohrenwend, Krasnoff, Askenasy, & Dohrenwend, 1978 as cited in Cervantes et al., 1991), and an adaptation of this was used to create a scale for this study that measures immigration-related stress. Few scales exist to measure the daily stressful events that Latinos experience, including stressors related to the immigration process. Cervantes Hispanic Stress Inventory – Immigrant (HSI-I) version focuses on the measures of these stressful events and includes concerns regarding the immigrant process (Cervantes et al., 1991). This version of the HSI has 75 items and 5 subscales. The five subscales include occupational, immigration, parental, marital, and cultural/family stress. The immigration stress subscale includes items that may be encountered by Latino immigrants on a daily basis, but does not include specific items related to Latinos in college or pursuing a higher education. An immigrationrelated stress scale was created to measure the unique experiences of Latinos in college.

Similar to the methodology used in the creations of the HIS-I, information regarding stressful events and experiences for Latino's were obtained by reviewing qualitative studies that conducted interviews with Latinos with unstable status in college or planning on attending college (Abrego, 2006; Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Ceballo, 2004; Contreras, 2009; Drachman, 2006; Enriquez, 2011; Gomez & Hawkins, 2012; Gonzales, 2010, 2011, 2012; Huber & Malagon, 2007; Pérez et al., 2010; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011). This provided insight into which stressors were most relevant to the Latino

college student population and therefore, should be included in the scale. In addition, research documenting how legal immigration concerns and the effects of discrimination by others leading to incorrect assumptions of the status of some Latinos was also reviewed to create items included in the scale , and to capture concerns for Latinos with stable status (Arbona et al., 2010; Hall & Soli, 2010; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010; Romero, 2008). Castillo, Perez, Castillo, and Ghosheh, 2010 used a similar strategy in developing a scale that measured mariansimo beliefs (i.e., Latina gender-based cultural expectations). The creation of the scale will be discussed further in the methodology section.

Immigrant Paradox

The immigrant paradox suggests that immigrants tend to have better academic outcomes, engage in less risky behaviors, and have better mental health and physical health outcomes than US born Latinos of a similar disadvantaged background (Alegria et al., 2008; Bacio, Mays, & Lau, 2013; Hill & Torres, 2010; Schwartz, Unger, Zamboanga, & Szapocznik, 2010). This is referred to as paradoxical because outcomes with Latino immigrants differ from previous research with immigrants, primarily from Europeanorigin, that suggest improved outcomes from the first to the later generations (Alba & Nee, 1997). The first wave of European immigrants showed improvements in physical health, mental health, and educational outcomes in future generations, while declines are seen with current non-European origin immigrants (Alba & Nee, 1997). For example, immigrant Latinos engage in less substance abuse (Bacio et al., 2013), have lower incidence of psychopathology (Alegria et al., 2008), and have a stronger value for

education and academic success (Hill & Torres, 2010). Research has found that the protective effect of recent immigration tends to decrease over time. For example, in a longitudinal study with immigrant adolescents from diverse racial backgrounds, academic outcomes, engagement, and motivation decreased over a 5-year period (Suarez-Orozco, Suarez-Orozco, Rhodes, Milburn, 2009). While there is no agreed upon explanation for these findings, there are many theories that attempt to explain the immigrant paradox.

One major aspect of studies focusing on the immigrant paradox is that the results are inconsistent and vary greatly across racial/ethnic immigrant groups, SES, comparison groups, variables of interest, and age (Algeria et al., 2008; Crosnoe, 2012; Marks, Ejesi, & Garcia Coll, 2014; Palacios, Guttmannova, Chase-Lansdale, 2008). For example, the immigrant paradox for education is more apparent in adolescent immigrants than immigrant children, and one possible explanation for this are dropout rates as Latino students progress through school (Crosnoe, 2012). Further, the immigrant paradox appears to hold consistently only when SES is accounted for (Crosnoe, 2012; Greenmen, 2013; Hernandez et al., 2012). That is, immigrants only appear to hold an advantage over native-born individuals when both come from similar socioeconomic backgrounds. This highlights the importance of accounting for the intersection of class and immigrant background. Controlling for related variables, such as SES, has shown to change the conclusions of studies measuring the immigrant paradox. To this researcher's knowledge, no studies have controlled for the effects of documentation status on the results of the immigrant paradox, and these effects are important to consider. The

legality of immigration has the potential to affect well-being and development in immigrants (Marks et al., 2014). By examining data through immigrant status (immigrant and US-born) and subsequently through documentation status (stable and non-stable), this study hopes to inform future research of the potential effects of documentation status.

Although the immigrant paradox is difficult to explain empirically, theories have been proposed to explain these unique findings. One possible explanation is the cultural integration hypothesis. This hypothesis is based on immigration from Mexico, and suggests that Mexican immigrants represent a unique segment of Mexican culture, brought to the US through self-selection that promotes resilience in the US environment (Buriel, 2012). The theory holds that through acculturation, descendants of immigrants lose the protection of this culture. However, researchers suggest that descendants of immigrant Latinos who retain their culture of origin while integrating some adaptive aspects of the dominant US culture (i.e., individualistic attitude for navigating career/education) may be able to hold on to the original protections of their immigrant ancestors (i.e., hold on to ability to speak Spanish and thus remaining bilingual) that resulted in good outcomes (Berry, Phinney, Sam, & Vedder, 2006; Buriel, 2012; Schwartz et al., 2010).

Another explanation is that through exposure to discrimination, potentially within the US schooling system, Latinos lose the protective effects that may have contributed to resilience in earlier generations. The US schooling system and other forms of systemic discrimination may encourage the loss of native language, discourage

important cultural practices, and encourage an individualistic mentality over a collectivistic mentality (Hill and Torres, 2010; Telles & Ortiz, 2008; Valenzuela, 2010). In addition, schools may promote negative views of one's own ethnic group by placing immigrants in less rigorous education tracks and emphasizing different cultural expectations for education (Hill and Torres, 2010).

A third potential explanation is that the conditions in the modern US no longer allow for the same upward mobility that was possible for the first wave of European immigrants. For example, there has been a decrease in upwardly mobile jobs that do not require high levels of education (North, 2009). The conditions for first wave European immigrants allowed for a rise in job position and salary for entry-level jobs. For example, employment as a factory line worker could lead to eventual promotion to a managerial position. The current decline in upward mobility does not allow individuals who find an entry-level labor oriented job to experience a rise in their job title, which includes a stagnant minimum wage salary or lower for undocumented workers.

Finally, segmented assimilation theory may help explain some of the inconsistencies found within the immigrant paradox. This theory suggests that assimilation outcomes for immigrants are largely dependent on the environment to which an immigrant is exposed (Portes & Zhou, 1993). For example, race and outward appearance of racial features may result in discrimination (Arce, Murguia, & Frisbie; 1987), and when combined with residence in a low SES neighborhood with few resources can lead to a decrease in resiliency through assimilation (Massey & Denton, 1993). In contrast, being more racially similar to the majority race and residence in a

resource rich neighborhood can lead to improved outcomes through assimilation (Portes & Zhou, 1993). An example of segmented assimilation for students with unstable status is provided below.

The immigrant paradox has largely focused on and found evidence for the resilience of documented immigrants and US born Latino children of immigrants (Gonzales, 2012). Qualitative research on undocumented youth also suggests that they are uniquely resilient, especially at higher levels of education, setting them apart from their native-born peers, peers with legal documentation, and youth with unstable documentation status who do not persist onto college (Abrego, 2006; Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Ceballo, 2004; Contreras, 2009; Drachman, 2006; Enriquez, 2011; Gomez & Hawkins, 2012; Gonzales, 2010, 2011, 2012; Huber & Malagon, 2007; Pérez et al., 2010; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011). It may be that the college students with unstable status perform well academically because they are a carefully selected group who have had unique environments of support and personal resilience that facilitated academic aspirations. For instance, an ethnographic study with undocumented Latino young adults found that those who persisted to college had a unique school environment that included teacher mentorship, positive peer relationships, small classes, and challenging course work. In contrast, undocumented Latino youth who did not persist on to college were unnoticed by teachers, placed in remedial tracks, and were exposed to negative peer influence (Gonzales, 2012). Such an outcome provides an example of differential treatment by the majority society, as those who persisted on to college were provided a resource-rich environment, while those who did not were exposed to a

resource poor environment. Given previous research, it is suggested that Latino immigrant college students, especially if they have unstable status, will have a higher average grade point average (GPA) and other related measures of academic success than US born Latino college students because of the uniquely supportive school environments and strong personal academic motivation. It is unclear if the success suggested in undocumented students is because of a true universal immigrant paradox or to the uniquely selective nature of college students with unstable status.

Indicators such as individual subject grades, GPA, placement in advanced courses, and standardized test scores are often used as measures of academic success. In particular, GPA is one of the most often used measures of academic achievement, as it is a global indicator of success in school (Duckworth & Seligman, 2005; Kraemer, 1996; Padilla & Gonzales, 2001; Sanchez, Colon, & Esparza, 2005). Researchers have obtained both GPA from academic records offices at schools and through student's self-report. Although self-report may result in some error, several studies have shown that college students are relatively accurate in reporting their cumulative GPA (Cassady, 2001; Kirk & Saereda, 1969; Kuncel, 2005). There is a consistently high degree of correlation between self-report GPA and actual GPA, ranging between .80 and .97 (Kuncel, 2005; Walsh, 1967). As an individual's grade level increases (i.e., high school freshmen vs. college senior), their ability to accurately self-report GPA improves (Kirk & Saereda, 1969).

Resiliency Theory

Resiliency is defined as an ability to successfully adapt despite exposure to negative environmental circumstances (Masten & Powell, 2003). An individual is considered resilient when she/he has been exposed to risk factors, environmental circumstances associated with unhealthy development, but had a successful and healthy development (Arrington & Wilson, 2000; Perez, Espinoza, Ramos, Coronado, & Cortes, 2009; Werner & Smith, 1992). Resiliency theory is interested in studying factors related to success rather than explaining failure. Resiliency is determined by the interaction and presence of both protective factors (characteristics related to positive development) and risk factors (any potential threat to postive development that is out of the individuals control; Werner & Smith, 1992).

Vulnerability, resiliency, and protection can be viewed as developmental outcomes existing on a continuum based on the number of risk and protective factors present (Dumont & Provost, 1999). Vulnerable youth are exposed to a relatively high number of risk factors as compared to protective factors (Dumont & Provost, 1999; Perez et al., 2009). Resilient youth have been exposed to both a high number of risk and protective factors, and may have experienced more protective factors than risk factors (Dumont & Provost, 1999; Perez et al., 2009). Protected youth have been exposed to low levels of risk factors while having many protective factors present during their development (Dumont & Provost, 1999; Perez et al., 2009). Just as resiliency and vulnerability can be conceptualized as existing on the same continuum, often times risk and protective factors exist on a continuum where low levels may be considered a risk

and high levels may be considered protective, or vice versa. It is important to understand the effect risk and protective factors have on the developmental trajectories of Latinos, regardless of their documentation status, because of their minority status. Latino college students benefit from a resiliency perspective because it helps researchers focus on positive aspects that help this population thrive into successful adults, and Latino college students may fit the definition of resiliency because of the number of risk factors they are exposed to throughout their development and the level of success they have been able to achieve despite those negative exposures. The culmination of research on Latino students, including both qualitative and quantitative studies, suggests that immigrant Latino students tend to be more resilient than US born Latinos (immigrant paradox). Furthermore, the qualitative research on undocumented students in college suggests that they may be the most resilient of all within the Latino college student population because of their increased exposure to structural risk factors throughout their development. To this date, no study exists directly comparing the experiences of risk and protective factors of Latino college students differing in documentation status or immigrant status.

Risk and Protective Factors

Risks are defined as any events that pose a threat to development that are out of the individual's control (Arrington & Wilson, 2000; Resnick & Burt, 1996; Werner & Smith, 1992). Overall, exposure to single, acute stressors are not typically associated with developmental problems; rather, it is the cumulative effect of multiple risk factors that are associated with negative life trajectories (Condly, 2006; Masten & Powell, 2003).

Several risk factors that have been described in the resiliency literature are comparable to descriptions of struggles in qualitative studies with undocumented students. These include coming from a family with low SES and chronic stressors outside of the individual's control, such as those related to immigration stress. It is important to measure and understand if the presence of risk factors is different for Latino students based on documentation status or immigrant status.

There are several common factors present during the development of resilient individuals that are related to healthy mental, physical, and academic development (Condly, 2006). These factors have been identified as protective factors (Werner & Smith, 1992), meaning that they help bring about a positive outcome or help reduce the effects of a negative outcome (Arrington & Wilson, 2000; Condly, 2006; Werner & Smith, 1992). Qualitative studies suggest that undocumented youth need to experience a uniquely high level of protective factors in order to successfully continue on to college. However, no study has investigated if these personal protective factors are experienced at a higher level by Latino college students with unstable status when compared to their Latino counterparts with stable documentation status attending college.

Socioeconomic status (SES). Living in poverty has been identified as a risk factor in several resiliency studies with Latino youth (Gonzalez & Padilla, 1997; Werner & Smith, 1992). Undocumented status tends to place individuals in poor or working class social status. Families without legal documentation are more likely to lack health care, not access public resources because of fear, and lack bank accounts or access to financial services (Abrego & Gonzales, 2010). Undocumented youth are more likely to

live in crowded housing, have parents with low levels of educational attainment, live in high crime neighborhoods, experience unstable income from job instability, and attend low-performing schools; all factors related to low SES (Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Diaz-Strong & Meiners, 2007; Gildersleeve & Ranero, 2010). Many US born Latino children have parents with unstable documentation status, which may result in experiencing the same level of risk that undocumented Latinos experience (Passel, 2006). Latino families, regardless of documentation status and immigrant status, are also more likely to experience poverty and a lack of resources (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012). Latino college students overall have a higher occurrence of poverty because of their minority status in the US. (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012). In contrast, having higher SES may also lead to unique advantages for Latino college students. For example, studies with Latino immigrant adolescents have found that higher SES is related to better school performance and had better mental health outcomes (Alegria et al., 2008; Palacios et al., 2008) In addition, undocumented immigrants with a greater number of resources are better prepared to successfully file for and receive approval for DACA status (Gonzales et al, 2014). Finally, financial resources may impact how immigrants with unstable status are able to enter the U.S. For example, immigrants with low SES may have to enter the U.S. without inspection, leading to high levels of stress. In contrast, those immigrants with more financial resources may be able to obtain a temporary nonimmigrant visa and enter the U.S. legally, thus experiencing lower levels of stress. This further differs from immigrants with stable status who are likely to have the most

financial resources, allowing them to obtain a more permanent method of entry into the U.S. and experience less stress.

Bicultural identity. Studies with Latino populations have found that certain cultural aspects can be sources of resiliency in this group (Kim-Cohen, 2007). For instance, biculturalism is the ability to navigate oneself between two cultures, which can sometimes lead to bicultural stress because of difficulty integrating the values of both cultures (Romero & Roberts, 2003; Smokowski & Bacallao, 2011). Experiencing a clash between two cultural values is considered a risk factor, whereas fluid biculturalism, the ability to harmoniously integrate aspects of two cultures, has been identified as a protective factor in immigrant youth (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005; Kim-Cohen, 2007). An integrated bicultural identity allows an individual to retain positive aspects of their culture of origin that is protective in their development, while having the skills and knowledge to successfully navigate oneself within the dominate culture (Kim-Cohen, 2007). As the US society operates under the dominant American culture, internalization of certain aspects of the dominant culture may be beneficial for Latino students to successfully adapt to society. An integrated bicultural identity leads to a flexibility that can lead to positive coping as adults (Haritatos & Benet-Martinez, 2002). A poor integration of a bicultural identity can lead to developmental problems such as identity confusion, low self-worth, and feelings of isolation (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005). Latino college students are often faced with the challenge of integrating their culture of origin with the dominant culture they are exposed to through their host country regardless of documentation or immigrant status. Studies explaining the occurrence of

the immigrant paradox suggest that an integrated bicultural identity is important in maintaining resilience throughout Latino generations (Berry et al., 2006; Buriel, 2012; Schwartz et al., 2010). Immigrants, especially those with unstable status, may experience greater cultural conflict because of the potential of being less acculturated based on spending less years in the US.

Problem-solving orientation. An often-cited protective characteristic is flexible problem-solving skills (Condly, 2006; Dumont & Provost, 1999; Masten, 1990). Active coping and problem solving was more common in a group of resilient youth than in vulnerable or well-adjusted youth (Dumont & Provost, 1999). Problem solving ability is related to positive coping in a variety of health outcomes. For example, having a high problem solving ability was found to mediate the relationship between personality factors that lead to substance abuse problems (Jaffee & D'Zurilla, 2009). In a sample of Latinas with diabetes, problem-solving ability resulted in improvement in health outcomes (Barrera, Toobert, Strycker, & Osuna, 2012). Several studies have found that approach-oriented coping, which includes active problem solving, has been related to less conduct problems, higher grades, and functioned as a buffer for family related stress (Barrera, Gonzales, Lopez, & Fernandez, 2004). In a study with undocumented students identified as successful, problem solving skills were related to their educational persistence (Morales et al., 2009).

Grit. Characteristics of persistence and a sense of purpose are also related to resiliency (Bernard, 1991; Werner & Smith, 1992). Undocumented students who persist through higher education usually show qualities of *ganas* or grit (Contreras, 2009;

Rodriguez, Castillo, Gandara, 2013). "Grit is defined as a trait-level perseverance and passion for long-term goals" (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009, p. 166). Those students who continue with their education have fostered a sense of self-direction and achievement motivation (Morales et al., 2009). Decreases in academic motivation among immigrant adolescent populations has been related to decreases in academic outcomes (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2009). In addition, studies focusing on the immigrant paradox in education suggest that self-motivation and determination are important predictors of positive academic outcomes in immigrants, and that self-motivation tends to be higher in immigrant Latinos than in native born Latinos (Hill & Torres, 2010; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2009).

Purpose

Informed by resiliency theory, the immigrant paradox, and published research, the purpose of the current study is threefold: a) to identify if differences in the risk factors, protective factors, immigration-related stress, and academic performance can help differentiate students based on documentation status (stable or unstable), b) to identify if differences in the risk factors, protective factors, immigration-related stress, and academic performance can help differentiate students based on immigrant status (immigrant or US born Latinos), and c) to identify which protective and risk factors predict immigration-related stress. The immigration-related stress scale will also be tested for appropriateness with this sample using exploratory factor analysis.

This study hypothesizes the following:

Hypothesis 1: Stable vs. unstable status will be predicted by experiences in immigration-related stress, risk factors, protective factors, and academic performance.

Hypothesis 2: Immigrant vs. US born Latinos will be predicted by experiences in immigration-related stress, risk factors, protective factors, and academic performance.

Hypothesis 3: Students with unstable status will experience higher levels of risk and protective factors, as well as higher degrees of immigration-related stress than students with stable status.

Hypothesis 4: Immigrant students will experience higher levels of risk and protective factors, as well as higher degrees of immigration-related stress than US born Latino students.

Hypothesis 5: Students with unstable status will have better academic performance, as measured by GPA and GT/AP class placement, than students with stable status.

Hypothesis 6: Immigrant students will have better academic performance, as measured by GPA and GT/AP class placement, than US born Latino students.

Hypothesis 7: Immigration-related stress will be positively predicted by risk factors and negatively predicted by protective factors.

The current study allows for a direct connection between qualitative and quantitative studies regarding the resiliency of undocumented students and immigrant students, and compares these experiences to the experiences of students with stable documentation status and US-born students. Documentation status will be broken down into stable and unstable status. Stable status includes U.S. citizens and permanent

residents and unstable status includes DACA holders, students without any form of current documentation, and temporary non-immigrant visa holders. It is important to start teasing out the differing effects immigrant status and documentation status may have on the development of Latino students. In addition, this study directly ties risk and protective factors identified through qualitative studies with the literature on resiliency (Abrego, 2006; Abrego & Gonzales, 2010; Ceballo, 2004; Contreras, 2009; Drachman, 2006; Enriquez, 2011; Gomez & Hawkins, 2012; Gonzales, 2010, 2011; Huber & Malagon, 2007; Pérez et al., 2010; Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011). Studying these factors quantitatively can help explain the degree of impact these factors have on the well-being and development of Latino young adults, and help determine if these factors are consistently important across the population.
CHAPTER II

METHODOLOGY

Participants

The participants were students attending college in Texas due to the variability between state laws governing undocumented student enrollment in institutions of higher education. In addition, the study is limited to Latino students to limit confounders based on ethnicity. There were no restrictions of participants based on age or college grade level. Participants were recruited state wide through various campus student organizations that were created to support undocumented student rights and had strong support for The DREAM Act. Student members of these organizations were highly politically active in support of immigrant issues. The data were collected between November 2014 and March 2015, a time-point in which in-state tuition was being threatened for students with unstable status by the Texas state legislature. A bill was being proposed in the legislature that, if passed, would take away the rights of college students with unstable status to qualify for in-state Texas tuition based on history of Texas residency. At this time, a high degree of anti-immigrant political sentiment was portrayed through the media and many Texas residents were in support of the bill's success. All participants in the study were politically involved at the time in order to stop the progress of the above-mentioned bill.

There were a total of 140 responses to the survey, with 95 complete survey responses. The completed response rate for the survey was 67.9%. The majority of the sample was foreign born, with 60% born outside of the US. While 40% of the sample

was born in the US, the majority of the sample, 63.2%, lived outside of the US for a large portion of their childhood and came into the US sometime after birth. There were 3 participants who left the US after birth and returned as older children. For those 60 participants who entered the US after birth, the mean age of entry is 8 years old (SD =5.59) with a range from 5 months to 21 years old. Of these 60 participants, 73.3% came from Mexico, 8.3% from El Salvador, 5% from Honduras, and 1 person each from Bolivia, Ecuador, Panama, Peru, and Venezuela. The mean years in the US for the sample were 16.42 years (5.52) with a range of 3 to 34 years. Of the 60% of the sample born outside of the US, 70.1% had unstable status and 29.8% had stable status. The sample was composed of participants with stable (guaranteed legal permanent US residency; US Citizens and Permanent Residents) and unstable (not considered legal US residents and either have no legal rights for US residency or have temporary rights that are highly regulated; DACA holders, temporary non-immigrant visa holders, and undocumented immigrants) documentation status. In the sample, 57.9% had stable status and 42.1% had unstable status. Of those with stable status, 69% were US born Latinos and 31% were Latinos born outside of the US. Of those Latinos with stable status born outside of the US, 10.9% were permanent residents and 89% were naturalized US citizens. The unstable status group included 77.5% participants who qualified as DACA, 7.5% participants had no form of documentation, and 15% were temporary nonimmigrant visa holders.

In this study 88.4% of participants were full-time students. There were 27.4% freshmen, 21.1% sophomores, 25.3% juniors, and 26.4% seniors. The majority of the

sample, 67.4%, was composed of women. The mean age of the sample was 21 years old (SD = 3.6) with a range from 18 to 46 years old. Only one participant was past their 20s, otherwise the oldest participant was 28 years old. The mean GPA score for participants was 3.20 (SD = .49) and GPA ranged from 1.93 to 4.0. In addition, 59% of the sample had been placed in gifted and talented (GT) or advanced placement (AP) courses during their pre-college academic years.

Procedures

Participants were obtained through the recruitment of Latino college students through DREAM alliance associations at a four-year university in Texas. DREAM alliance associations include both undocumented students and allies of undocumented student. These organizations were created to provide support for undocumented students in college, and members of these organizations are often involved in politics and lobbying for the rights of undocumented college students. Surveys were administered through Qualtrics, an online survey generator, 79 completed surveys, and through in person recruitment at political rallies organized by the student organizations, 16 completed surveys. The survey took approximately 12 to 15 minutes to complete and was administered solely in English, as the sample is drawn from a college population and adequate English proficiency is assumed. After obtaining permission from the University's IRB, the survey link was forwarded to a designated officer in each campus organization, who in turn forwarded the link to qualifying group members and also shared the link on the group's social networking page. Participants were informed that the survey would ask questions regarding their educational and emotional experiences

during their schooling. For in person recruitment, the researcher approached potential participants and obtained verbal consent for participation. Participation in the study was completely voluntary and anonymous or confidential. No questions that could reveal identity were asked within the survey. Participants had the option of providing their name and email to receive a \$10 gift card electronically, but this information was stored separately from their responses and destroyed immediately after reward was provided. If participants elected to remain anonymous, a \$10 donation to TheDream.US scholarship fund or another charity of their choice was made for their participation. Participants were allowed to leave any questions unanswered and were informed that they could discontinue the study at any time without penalty. Participants were provided with the contact information of the primary researcher should they have any questions regarding the study. The data collection method posed minimal risk to study participants.

Measures

For the purpose of this study, variables were operationalized based on theoretical concepts developed from the research presented on resiliency. The concepts included: risk factors, protective factors, immigration-related stress, and academic achievement. A detailed description of all key variables and their measures follows.

Demographics. Participants were asked to report gender, current college level, birthplace, and documentation status. Birthplace was used to determine immigrant status, as either immigrant or US born Latinos. This variable was dummy coded as 0 for US born Latinos and 1 for immigrant. Documentation status included an option for US citizen, permanent resident, DACA holder, temporary non-immigrant visa holder, and an

option for undocumented/expired documentation. These were later grouped into stable (guaranteed legal US permanent residency; US Citizens and Permanent US Residents) and unstable (not considered legal US residents and either have no legal rights for US residency or have temporary rights that are highly regulated; DACA holders, temporary non-immigrant visa holders, and undocumented immigrants). This variable was dummy coded as 1 for stable status and 2 for unstable status.

Immigration-related stress. The 9-item Immigration-Related Stress scale was developed for the purposes of this study to assess whether participants perceived stress because of their immigrant status in regards to feelings of alienation, fears related to deportation or legal issues, and perception of barriers. Three items used in previous studies that showed adequate reliability and appeared to capture legal immigration concerns were used in the scale (McWhirter et al., 2013; Perez et al., 2009). The remaining 6 items were created based on the information gathered through qualitative and quantitative research with undocumented students, families of mixed status, and experiences of discrimination for Latinos. The items were created to capture the perception of the target population due to described barriers and experiences encountered by students with unstable status, the fear that may be present because of concern of deportation of self or close others, and the perceived experiences of exclusion and discrimination due to other's perception of one's status. The items were created by a researcher who identifies within the immigrant community, is familiar with the laws regulating immigrants, and grew up in a community highly populated by Latinos of varying documentation and immigrant status. The scale is intended to measure how

stressful the individual perceives potential legal barriers encountered and how strongly they perceive discrimination based on immigrant status. An example item used in one of the previous study is "Because of my immigrant status, I feel that I am not wanted in this country" (Perez et al., 2009). The item from the other study is "Because of my immigrant status, I feel that I will encounter barriers to my education" (McWhirter et al., 2013). A sample item created for the study is "I am frustrated by the fact that I cannot have a driver's license because of my documentation status." Items are measured on a 6point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strong disagree*) to 6 (*strongly agree*). Scores are measured on a continuum, with higher scores indicating higher risk. The scale had 8 missing cases and mean imputations were used on the missing items to conserve power. The means were determined based on group membership, either stable or unstable category. All 9 items showed adequate inter-item correlations and had a total α of .905.

Risk and protective factors. Four measures were used as indicators of risk and protective factors. Each variable chosen is reflected in the literature as a measure of risk or protection in Latino immigrants and identified as a struggle or source of support through interviews with undocumented Latino students. The variables include SES, bicultural integration, grit, and problem-solving orientation. The variables are measured on a continuum with one end indicating risk and the other indicating protection.

Social status. Participants were asked to report each parent's highest level of education and current occupation. Each response was assigned a point value, and used to create a composite variable for SES based on the Barratt Simplified Measure for Social Status (Barratt, 2006). Educational level is categorized on a 7-point Likert scale ranging

from less than 7th grade to graduate degree. Scores are assigned in multiples of 3, ranging from 3 at the lowest level (*less than 7th grade*), to 21 at the highest level (graduate degree). Occupational prestige is categorized on a 10-point Likert scale ranging from unemployed to professional careers. Scores are assigned in multiples of 5, ranging from 0 at the lowest level (unemployed) to 45 at the highest level (professional). Education and occupation are assigned different scoring weights based on the original Hollingshead SES Index (Barratt, 2006; Hollingshead, 1975). Barratt (2006) updated the prestige categorization of each occupation from the original Hollingshead index based on more recent social standards. In the case of two-parent families, the education level for each parent is summed together and divided by 2. This score is added to the summed and divided score for parent's occupational level to create the index score for social status. Scores typically range between 8 and 66 but can be lower due to unemployment. In the case of a single parent household, the primary caregiver's education and occupation scores are summed to create the social status composite. Low social status is considered a risk factor while high social status is considered a protective factor. Internal reliability is not obtained due to the scaling of items (Barratt, 2006).

Cultural conflict. Personal integration of majority and minority cultural identities was measured using an altered version of the Bicultural Identity Integration Scale –Version 1 (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005). This scale measures cultural conflict (feeling torn between identities vs. feeling they are compatible). The scale was created to measure the bicultural integration of Chinese Americans; the wording on each item was changed to reflect the integration of Latino individuals. The word Chinese

American was replaced by Latino American, and the scale was altered in the 2005 version (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005). The scale is comprised of 4 items that are measured on a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (*strongly agree*) to 5 (*strongly disagree*), and had a reported reliability Cronbach's α coefficient of .82 with a college Latino population (Miramontez, Benet-Martínez, & Nguyen, 2008). A sample item is "I feel like someone moving between two cultures." Scores were measured on a continuum, and individuals with a more integrated and fluid cultural identity (lower scores) were considered protected. Higher scores indicate experiences of more conflict between cultures and is therefore considered a risk. Only 94 cases were used to determine reliability because of missing data on one case. The items showed adequate inter-item correlations and a Cronbach's α of .803.

Grit. Student's perseverance and consistency with goals was measured with the 8-item Short Grit Scale (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009). Responses are measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*not at all like me*) to 5 (*very much like me*). Sample items include, "I finish whatever I begin", and "New ideas and projects sometimes distract me from previous ones." Higher scores indicate a higher level of grit. Students who showed high levels of grit are considered protected. Internal consistency ranged from .73 to .83 in the original study with adults older than 25 and university military school cadets. Only 93 cases were used to determine reliability because of missing data on two cases. The scale had a Cronbach's α of .769.

Problem-solving orientation. The problem-solving skills scale (PSS) was used to measure an individual's self-appraisal of their problem-solving style (Maydeu-Olivares

& D'Zurilla, 1997). The scale includes 9-items that correlate well with the problem solving approach style subscale and the problem solving confidence subscale, r = .92and r = .93 respectively, of the Problem Solving Inventory (Heppner & Petersen, 1982). A sample item includes "When a solution to a problem has failed, I do not examine why it didn't work." Each response is measured on a 6-point Likert scale. Higher scores indicate better problem-solving skills. The measure showed good internal reliability, α = .83, in the original sample of undergraduate college students (Maydeu-Olivares & D'Zurilla, 1997). Individuals showing better problem-solving appraisal were considered protected. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the scale with the 9 items was α = .673. Inspection of the data output revealed that item 8 had low correlations with the other items. Further inspection revealed that the wording for the item was long and complex, which may have affected the reliability of that item. The item was removed which resulted in an improved Cronbach's alpha, α = .734.

Academic achievement. Self-report college GPA and placement in a gifted and talented (GT) or advanced placement (AP) course were measured as an indicator of academic achievement. Means and standard deviations for variables of interest are included in Table A-1.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

Data Analysis Plan

Exploratory factor analysis. Exploratory factor analysis (EFA) is a psychometric technique that can be used to measure the construct validity of a scale, to reduce the number of measured variables into fewer latent variables, and to identify patterns of relationships within a scale through the creation of factors (Henson & Roberts, 2006; Thompson, 2004). In this study, EFA was run to measure the validity of the immigrations stress scale, which was created for the purposes of this study. EFA is indicated when no prior relationships among the variables has been established through research (Henson & Robert, 2006; Thompson, 2004). The loadings of each item on the factor are used to determine the importance of each item in explaining the variance of the factor (Henson & Roberts, 2006).

EFA is a data-driven method of analysis that requires subjective decision-making based on the evidence provided by the data being analyzed (Finch & West, 1997; Thompson, 2004; Williams, Brown, & Onsman, 2010). Williams et al. (2010) developed a five-step guide to EFA to provide a systemic approach that facilitates the development of clear decision-making when conducting a factor analysis.

In the first step, the researcher determines if the data are appropriate for factor analysis, which is influenced by sample size (Williams et al., 2010). The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (*KMO*) measure of sampling adequacy helps determine if the sample size is adequate for the particular analysis (Tabchnick & Fidell 2001). The second step is to determine the extraction method for the factors (Williams et al., 2010). In this case principle axis factoring is used, as it accounts for error variance and is a robust statistic (Fabrigar, Wegner, MacCallum, & Strahan, 1999).

In the third step, the researcher determines the number of factors that will be extracted from the data (Williams et al., 2010). According to Thompson and Daniel (1996), suggest using multiple methods to determine how many factors should be extracted from the data. In this case, eigenvalues are inspected and factors with eigenvalues greater than one are considered for retention (Hubbard & Allen, 1987). The cumulative percentage of the variance is examined to determine how many factors accounted for at least 50%-60% of the data, and those factors are then considered for retention (Williams et al., 2010). A scree plot is examined and factors located above the largest break in the plotted line are considered for retention (Williams et al., 2010). Finally, a parallel analysis will be conducted. Measured factors with eigenvalues larger than their compared random order eigenvalues is considered for retention (Thompson, 2004). O'Connor's (2000) SPSS syntax is used to run the parallel analysis.

The fourth step is to determine which rotational method should be used to aid in the interpretation of the factors (Williams et al., 2010). The rotation of the factors facilitates the interpretation of the results because it serves to maximize high factor loadings and minimize low factor loadings without changing the shape of distribution (Williams et al., 2010). In this case, an oblique rotation method will be used because it assumes correlation between the factors, as the potential factors affecting immigrationrelated stress may correlate with each other (Henson & Roberts, 2006). The fifth and

final step involves interpretation of the items on the factors and interpretation of what each factor may represent (Williams et al., 2010). The strength of the loading of each item on the factor is examined to determine retention within the factor (Henson & Roberts, 2006). Generally, loadings above .4 are considered high enough for retention (Floyd & Widaman, 1995).

Discriminant function analysis. Discriminant function analysis was used to determine if immigration-related stress, social status, cultural conflict, problem-solving orientation, grit, college GPA, and a history of gifted and talented (GT)/advanced placement (AP) classes would predict group membership in either stable (guaranteed legal permanent US residency; US Citizens and Permanent US Residents) or unstable (not considered legal US residents and either have no legal rights for US residency or have temporary rights that are highly regulated; DACA holders, temporary non-immigrant visa holder, and undocumented immigrant) documentation status, as well as immigrant or US born status.

Discriminant function analysis is used to determine which groups of variables distinguish between two or more groups (Poulsen & French, 2008). Two steps are involved in discriminant function analysis. The first step involves a multivariate F test to determine if there are differences present (Poulsen & French, 2008). If the F test suggests the presence of differences, each factor is then analyzed to determine differences between groups (Poulsen & French, 2008). This is followed by classifying the variables into appropriate groups using weighted group means (Poulsen & French, 2008). Functions are selected based on how well they predict group membership and

shared variance is removed (Poulsen & French, 2008). The risk factors, protective factors, and academic variables described above were used in the model to predict group membership based on immigrant status and documentation status.

Hierarchal linear regression. A hierarchal linear regression was used to determine which risk and protective factors predicted the level of immigration-related stress. Immigrant status and documentation status were entered in the first step. In step 2, years in the US was added. For US citizens, their age at the time they took the assessment was used to define their years in the US. Finally, risk factors (low social status and high cultural conflict) and personal protective factors (grit and problem-solving ability) were added in step 3.

Predictor variables at p-values equal to or less than .05 are considered statistically significant. The final multiple correlation coefficient (R^2) was interpreted to determine the power of the combined predictor variables in explaining the variance of the criterion variable (immigration-related stress). The change in R^2 at each step of the regression analysis was also evaluated to determine the value each predictor adds to the interpretation. To determine the strength of each predictor variable, both the structure coefficients and the Beta weights were interpreted. In cases in which there is some correlation between the predictor variables, only interpreting Beta weights may lead to incorrect assumptions regarding the strength of the predictor variable (Dunlap & Landis, 1998). Interpreting both Beta weights and structure coefficients is informative of both the relationship of the predictor variables with each other and that of the predictor variables with the criterion variable. A hierarchal linear regression allows for measuring

the value of multiple predictor variables at once, which results in more accurate effect sizes. In addition, a hierarchal multiple regression allows for the testing of theoretical relationships (Thompson, 2008). In this case, this method is preferred over structural equation modeling due to the sample size constraints.

Prior to conducting the main analyses, the data were checked to make sure assumptions were met for multivariate normality, linearity, and multicollinearity (Thompson, 2008). All data met prior assumptions. Multivariate normality of the data is important because outliers can result in measurement error. To perform a regression analysis and discriminant analysis, data must have linear relationships as regression weights only reflect linear relationships (Kline, 2011). To check for multicollinearity, bivariate correlations and the variance inflation factor (*VIF*) index, tolerance index, and a collinearity diagnostic were conducted (O'Hagan & McCabe, 1975). It is important for predictor variables to not be overly correlated, as this can affect the estimation of the effect size for individual predictors (Thompson, 2008). Prior to analyzing the data, a power analysis was run to check for sufficient sample size to perform a hierarchical linear regression and a discriminant function analysis. An a-priori power analysis indicated a need of 90 participants to conduct the analysis if effect sizes are estimated to be 0.20.

Preliminary Analysis

Correlations. All variable correlations are located in Table A-2. The following relationships were statistically significant. A positive correlation of r = .234 (p = .023) was found between college GPA and documentation status. This correlation

demonstrates that higher GPA was associated with unstable documentation status. In other words, slightly higher GPA was found among students with undocumented status, DACA holders, and temporary non-immigrant visa holders. Also, a positive correlation of .302 (p = .003) was found between GPA and immigrant status. This means that students born outside of the US reported higher GPA. Immigrant status was also associated with gender (r = -.293, p = .004). That is, more men classified as first generation immigrants compared to women. Documentation status was found to be related to immigrant status (r = .696, p < .000). This indicates that first generation immigrant status was related to unstable documentation status. Immigration-related stress was positively related to immigrant status (r = .445, p < .000) and documentation status (r = .498, p < .000). In other words, being a first generation immigrant and having an unstable documentation status were both associated with increased immigrationrelated stress. Higher levels of grit were associated with more advanced college level (r = .204, p = .047), being a first generation immigrant (r = .222, p = .031), and having unstable documentations status (r = .264, p = .010). A higher score on the problem solving orientation scale was associated with more advanced college level (r = .241, p= .018) and more grit (r = .418, p < .000). Finally, experiencing more cultural conflict, that is lower fluid biculturalism, was associated with being female (r = .204, p = .047), experiencing more immigration-related stress (r = .257, p = .012), lower social status (r= -.204, p = .047), and having a higher problem-solving orientation (r = .270, p = .008).

Independent samples t tests. Based on the differences in the sample on generational status and documentation status, independent sample t tests were conducted to determine if these differences affect the variables of interest for the main analysis. The full table for the t tests is included in Table A-3 (Immigrant Status) and Table A-4 (Documentation Status).

Immigrant status. The *t* tests for generation status revealed some statistically significant differences. In terms of gender, there were more men in the immigrant group (M = 1.56, SD = .50) than in the US born Latino group (M = 1.84, SD = .37), t(92) = - 3.14, p < .01, d = .64. Levine's test indicated unequal variances (F = 42.22, p < .001), so the t statistic for equal variances not assumed, which adjusted degrees of freedom from 93 to 92 on SPSS (Shoemaker, 2003). The groups also differed on GPA. Immigrant students had a higher GPA (M = 3.32, SD = .44) than US born Latino students (M = 2.93, SD = .70), t(93) = 3.35, p = .001, d = .67. First generation immigrant students experienced a higher degree of immigration-related stress (M = 3.73, SD = 1.19) than US born Latino students (M = 2.51, SD = 1.25), t(93) = 4.79, p < .001, d = 1.28. First generation immigrant students also reported higher levels of grit (M = 3.55, SD = .67) than US born Latino students (M = 3.28, SD = .58), t(93) = 2.19, p < .05, d = 1.22.

Documentation status. The t-tests for the documentation status variable are based on differences in groups between those having stable status in the US (US citizens & permanent residents) and those with unstable status in the US (DACA holders, undocumented immigrants, and temporary non-immigrant visa holders). The t tests revealed some statistically significant differences. Students with unstable status had a higher GPA (M = 3.34, SD = .46) than students with stable status (M = 3.04, SD = .65), t(93) = 2.47, p < .05, d = 1.31. Immigration-related stress also differed between the two groups. Students with unstable status experienced a higher degree of immigration-related stress (M = 4.02, SD = .92) than students with stable status (M = 2.67, SD = 1.32), t(93) =5.54, p < .001, d = 1.47. Finally, students with unstable status also reported higher scores on grit (M = 3.63, SD = .63) than students with stable status (M = 3.30, SD = .57), t(93) =2.64, p = .01, d = 1.27).

Main Analyses

Exploratory factor analysis (EFA): Immigration-related stress scale validation.

While the sample size was relatively small for conducting EFA, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (*KMO*) measure of sampling adequacy was .892, suggesting that the sample was adequate to conduct EFA. A *KMO* of 0.5 or above is considered appropriate for factor analysis (Tabchnick & Fidell 2001). In addition, Bartlett's test of sphericity was statistically significant (p < .001), further confirming that the sample was appropriate for factor analysis (Tabchnick & Fidell 2001). There was only one factor with an eigenvalue greater than one and this factor accounted for 52.6% of the variance. The scree plot showed only one factor above the break point, and the parallel analysis only showed one factor with an eigenvalue above the random ordered eigenvalue. Therefore, only one factor was retained, and no rotation was necessary to interpret the factor loadings. Factor loadings for each item ranged from .487 to .839 suggesting that all items should be retained in the scale (Floyd & Widaman, 1995).

Discriminant function analysis. A discriminant function analysis was run to determine whether differences in immigrant status and documentation status were seen based on the variables of interest. A discriminant function analysis indicates whether group membership can be predicted based on a specified model of predictor variables, and how well these predictor variables function to categorize into group membership correctly. The model was run using documentation status as a grouping variable and immigrant status as a grouping variable to determine which model had stronger predictive power. The predictors included grit, cultural conflict, immigration-related stress, social status, GT/advanced class placement, GPA, and problem-solving orientation

Documentation status. The means and standard deviations for each variable based on group status are included in Table A-4. Box's M of equality of variance determined that there are no significant differences between groups and that the homogeneity of variance assumption is not violated, p = .049. The model shows a statistically significant ability to predict group membership, Wilks' Lambda = .610, chi square(7) = 44.19, p < .001. The predictors accounted for 62% of the variance in the outcome variable. The model was able to correctly predict group membership for stable status 80% of the time and unstable status 75% of the time. The centroid for each group was set at -.674 for students with stable status and .927 for students with unstable status. Centroids were selected using weighted means due to unequal group size (Poulsen & French, 2008). Closer inspection of the model revealed that only three predictors were statistically significant predictors. The function of immigration-related stress had the

highest loading (standardized canonical discriminant coefficient = .901, unstandardized = .766), followed by grit (standardized canonical discriminant coefficient = .523, unstandardized = .878), and finally GPA (standardized canonical discriminant coefficient = .314, unstandardized = .546). The three variables had statistically significant differences between the groups. In this case, students with unstable status had statistically significant higher GPA, grit, and Immigration-related stress. The three statistically significant functions also showed adequate correlations to the function (immigration-related stress: r = .718, grit: r = .343, GPA: r = .320). The results suggest that only immigration-related stress, grit, and GPA should be kept in the final model. The cross-validated classification, a jack-knife procedure which is repeated for each individual case, indicates that, using the prediction model, 76.4% of students with stable status were correctly classified and 72.5% of students with unstable status were correctly classified. A graphical representation of grouping is included in in the figure located in Figure B-1.

This figure is a box-and-whiskers plots that demonstrates the distribution of the two groups. The line across the box represents the median (Thompson, 2008). The edges of the box represent the 2nd quartile and 3rd quartile of the data, which indicates that 50% of the sample data lie within the area of the box (Thompson, 2008). Finally, the end point of each whisker represents the lowest and the highest data point (Thompson, 2008). This figure allows for the comparison of the box and whisker plot representing the stable group, 1, and the unstable group, 2. Each box-and-whisker plot is placed side by side within a graph. The graph is used to compare the plots to determine the area of overlap,

where the plots overlay on the y-axis. The less of an overlap there is, the better the model is at predicting an individual into the correct group.

Immigrant status. The means and standard deviations for each variable based on group status are included in Table A-3. Box's M of equality of variance determined that there were no significant differences between groups and the homogeneity of variance assumption is not violated, p = .003. The model shows a statistically significant ability to predict group membership, Wilks' Lambda = .662, chi square(7) = 36.96, p < .001. The predictors' accounted for 58% of the variance in the outcome variable. The model was able to correctly predict group membership for US born Latinos 60% of the time and first generation immigrant 86% of the time. The centroid for each group was set at -.867 for students born in the US and .578 for students born outside of the US. Centroids were selected using weighted means due to unequal group size (Poulsen & French, 2008). Closer inspection of the model revealed that only three predictors were statistically significant predictors. First, the function of immigration-related stress had the highest loading (standardized canonical discriminate coefficient = .837, unstandardized = .689), followed by grit (standardized canonical discriminate coefficient = .470, unstandardized = .781), and finally GPA (standardized canonical discriminate coefficient = .412, unstandardized = .733). The three statistically significant functions also showed adequate correlations to the function (immigration-related stress: r = .694, grit: r = .486, GPA: r = .318). The three variables had a statistically significant difference, and were considered adequate predictors of the grouping variable. In this case, immigrant students had higher GPA, grit, and Immigration-related stress. For this group, immigration-

related stress is elevated, but not as high as when the focus is on students with unstable status. The results suggest that only immigration-related stress, grit, and GPA should be kept in the final model. The cross-validated classification results indicate that, using the prediction model, 58% of students born in the US were correctly classified and 84% of students born outside of the US were correctly classified. A graphical representation of grouping is included in Figure B-2.

This figure is a box and whiskers plot that demonstrates the distribution of the two groups. The line across the box represents the median (Thompson, 2008). The edges of the box represent the 2nd quartile and 3rd quartile of the data, which indicates that 50% of the sample data lie within the area of the box (Thompson, 2008). Finally, the end point of each whisker represents the lowest and the highest data point (Thompson, 2008). This figure allows for the comparison of the box and whisker plot representing the US born Latino group, 0, and the immigrant group, 2. Each box-and-whisker plot is placed side by side within a graph. The graph is used to compare the plots to determine the area of overlap, where the plots overlay on the y-axis. The less of an overlap there is, the better the model is at predicting an individual into the correct group.

Regression analysis for immigration-related stress. Due to the importance of experiencing stress related to immigration concerns, a regression analysis was conducted by examining the role of risk and protective factors. Multicollinearity was assessed through bivariate correlations, the variance inflation factor (*VIF*) index, the tolerance index, and the condition index by running a collinearity diagnostic (O'Biran, 2007). No predictor variables were highly correlated, no *VIF* indices were higher than 10, no

tolerance coefficients were below .2, and no condition indices were greater than 30 along with a correlation of 0.5. These results suggest that multicollinearity was not a problem in the analysis (Wichers, 1975). A hierarchical linear regression predicting immigration-related stress was performed, controlling for documentation status (stable vs. unstable) and immigrant status in the first step, years in US in the second step, and measuring risk and protective factors (low cultural conflict, problem solving, grit, social status) in the third step. Years in US was added in a second step to measure if the effects based on the status variables were because of years spent in the US, rather than either documentation status or immigrant status. This is important to distinguish because of the fact that the majority of the participants born outside of the US had spent varying degrees of years in the US.

Results indicated that the predictors accounted for 38% of the variance in the final model ($R^2 = .38$; F(7, 87) = 7.73, p = .000). In Step 1, documentation status was statistically significant ($\beta = .37$, p = .004), and the predictors account for 27% of the variance ($R^2 = .27$; F(2, 92) = 16.71, p = .000). In the second step, there was not a statistically significant change in \mathbb{R}^2 , indicating that the years in US variable was not significant and documentation status continued to be the only statistically significant variable ($\beta = .38$, p = .003). The final model revealed that documentation status ($\beta = .43$, p = .001) continued to be significant. In addition, cultural conflict ($\beta = .28$, p = .003) was a significant predictor of immigration-related stress. The hierarchal regression data is included in Table A-5.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION, LIMITATIONS, AND CONCLUSION

The first objective of this study was to investigate the possible differences in Latino college students based on documentation status (stable or unstable) and immigrant status (immigrant or US born Latinos) through the measurement of risk factors, protective factors, and GPA. The current study found that immigration-related stress, grit, and college GPA significantly differentiated Latinos with unstable status from Latinos with stable status, as well as immigrants from US born Latinos. The prediction model was more stable when predicting group membership based on documentation status than based on immigrant status.

A further objective of this study was to determine which measured experiences of risk and resilience would predict level of immigration-related stress. The results indicated that, when immigrant status and documentation status were controlled for, cultural conflict and social status significantly and negatively predicted the level of immigration-related stress. Further, documentation status continued to significantly predict the level of immigration-related stress after cultural conflict and social status were included in the model. This study provides important suggestions about risk and resiliency among Latino college students. In addition, the appropriateness of the immigrations-related stress scale as a measure within this study was tested using exploratory factor analysis and the scale was found to be reliable and found to be measuring a single construct.

Immigration-related Stress Scale

This study was able to determine that the use of the immigration-related stress scale was appropriate with this sample, that the items appear to relate to the same construct, and that all the items included are important in measuring the construct. All items in this measure loaded on the same factor and provided a unified measure of a construct. This construct may be most relevant to students with unstable status, as the unstable status group had the highest mean in the immigration-related stress scale. It should also be noted that the majority of the sample of students with unstable status were students who had been approved for DACA qualification, and were still reporting a high degree of immigration-related stress. While DACA approval may result in increased rights, based on this study it does not appear to reduce the daily documentation-based concerns experienced. Immigration-related stress may affect many Latinos, regardless of documentation status, because of the relatively common mixed status family structure (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011), as well as systemic and individual discrimination that affects many Latinos regardless of generation level or longstanding family history in the US (Romero, 2008). This measure may not adequately capture the stress experienced by Latinos who have concerns for family members or perceive discrimination based on others ascribing unstable status to them through stereotyping. The measure may be improved upon to capture a broader experience of immigration-related stress by including items that specify concerns for family members, and potentially through creating two versions of the scale. One version could focus on the experiences of immigrants and children of immigrants (2nd generation Latinos), while a second version

could focus on the experiences of third generation and later Latinos, a strategy used in previous scales for Latinos (Cervantes et al., 1991). The second version would need to focus more on the stress experienced due to perceived discrimination based on other's perception of the individual as having unstable status or being an immigrant. Such an approach would provide a more nuanced measurement of immigration-related stress and may perhaps lead to separate but correlated factors that encompass experiencing immigration-related stress.

Differences Based on Documentation Status

The results suggested that there is some difference in Latino college students based on their documentation status. In this case, documentation status was dichotomized into stable (guaranteed legal permanent residency in the US; US Citizens and Permanent Residents) and unstable (not considered legal US residents and either have no legal rights for US residency or have temporary rights that are highly regulated; DACA holders, temporary non-immigrant visa holders, and undocumented immigrants). Specifically, the variables of grit, GPA, and immigration-related stress were statistically significant variables in the prediction model. In this study, students with unstable status had a higher average GPA, experienced grit at higher levels, and reported immigrationrelated stress at higher levels than their peers with stable status. The results of this discriminant function analysis suggest that the statistically significant difference in grit, GPA, and immigration-related stress was effective in adequately identifying a participant as either having stable status or unstable status when looking at a combination of these three variables. The results partially supported the hypothesis that students with unstable

status will have higher indicators of academic achievement, which has been reported in research based on the immigrant paradox (Hill & Torres, 2010). Students with unstable status had a significantly higher college GPA, but the results were not significant for GT/AP class placement.

The results also support the hypothesis that students with unstable status would experience a higher degree of immigration-related stress. It should be noted that students with stable status, on average, did not report high levels of immigration-related stress. This is consistent with studies suggesting that immigration-related stress affects immigrants with unstable status (Contreras, 2009; Diaz-Strong & Meiners, 2007; Gonzales, 2011; Gonzales et al., 2013; Morales et al., 2009; Pérez & Fortuna, 2005; Sullivan & Rehm, 2005), but contradicts research suggesting that immigration-related stress affects Latinos with stable status (Arbona et al., 2010; Hall & Soli, 2010; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). Immigration-related stress includes limitations because of existing legal barriers, concern for family members, experiences of discrimination, and self-identity problems. It may be that certain experiences are limited to those with unstable documentation status, while some other aspects of immigration-related stress are experienced by many Latinos. A more nuanced approach to this research may help further differentiate the experiences of immigration-related stress in the different documentation status groups.

Finally, there were no statistically significant differences in the measured risk and protective factors between the two groups, with the exception of grit or *ganas*. It may be that this was the only variable related because *ganas* has been identified as one

of the most important variables for academic achievement. Ganas was also found as a statistically significant predictor of academic motivation in a previous study with Latina high school students (Rodriguez et al., 2013). This was a surprising result, as the literature suggests that students with unstable status are expected to experience higher levels of risk and protection than those with stable status (Abrego, 2006; Alegria et al., 2008; Bacio et al., 2013; Contreras, 2009; Dumont & Provost, 1999; Enriquez, 2011; Gildersleeve & Ranero, 2010; Gonzales, 2010, 2011; Hill & Torres, 2010; Perez et al., 2009; Schwartz et al., 2010). Despite this, these results do provide partial support for the hypothesis that students with unstable status would have a resiliency profile. Qualitative studies with undocumented students suggest that undocumented students in college possess a unique level of resilience, which is deemed necessary for their success given the number of barriers they encounter throughout their development (Abrego, 2006; Contreras, 2009; Enriquez, 2011; Gildersleeve & Ranero, 2010; Gonzalez, 2010; 2011; Perez et al., 2010). According to a previous study, being academically exceptional and resilient differentiates "college goers" from "early exiters" within the undocumented high school population (Gonzalez, 2011). Some data suggests that academic success and resilience allows certain students to get noticed, which leads to aid from teachers and mentors as they navigate their way to college (Gonzalez, 2010; 2011). The results of this study provide a partial picture of resilience for the students with unstable status. The students are experiencing stress at a higher level (a risk), have higher levels of grit (a protection), and are showing good academic outcomes (mean college GPA=3.34) and resilience. This study contributes quantitative data to the suggestions of qualitative

studies that resilience may be more necessary for Latinos with unstable status to experience success than it might be for Latinos with stable status.

Differences Based on Immigrant Status

The results of the discriminate analysis based on immigrant status show a similar pattern to the results based on documentation status. College GPA, grit, and immigration-related stress contributed to the functions ability to differentiate group membership at a statistically significant level. Immigrant college students had a higher college GPA, reported higher levels of grit, and had a higher degree of immigration-related stress than US born Latino college students. Again, the results partially supported the hypothesis that immigrant students would have higher academic achievement, reflected through college GPA but not number of GT/AP classes, a result suggested by the immigrant paradox (Hill & Torres, 2010).

Immigrant students showed a higher degree of immigration-related stress, confirming the hypotheses, but again, it should be noted that US born Latino students did not report high levels of immigrations-related stress as it was measured by this scale, which contradicts studies suggesting that immigration-related stress may be relevant to US born Latinos through perceived discrimination or concern for family members (Hall & Soli, 2010; Romero, 2008; Yoshikawa & Kalil, 2011). Examining the data based on immigrant status suggests that immigrants, regardless of documentation status, experience immigration-related stress. This provides support for previous research citing immigration-related stress for many Latino immigrants, with or without stable documentation status (Arbona et al., 2010; Hall & Soli, 2010; Potochnick & Perreira,

2010). It may be that immigrant-related stress in the way it was measures in this study is a factor for Latino immigrants, but not for US born Latinos. This result will be further discussed in the limitations section.

Finally, based on the results of this study, grit, a protective factor, was the only variable experienced at a significantly different level for Latino immigrant college students. Again, this was a surprising result because of previous research providing support for the immigrant paradox and suggesting a high level of resilience in immigrant students (Alegria et al., 2008; Bacio et al., 2013; Hill & Torres, 2010; Schwartz et al., 2010). It was expected that immigrant students would have a higher level of several risk and protective factors, not just grit. The results of the analysis, however, do still provide partial support for the immigrant paradox (Alegria et al., 2008; Bacio et al., 2013; Hill & Torres, 2010; Schwartz et al., 2010). That is, the immigrant students in the current study reported greater experiences of stress, yet also reported higher levels of grit and better academic outcomes, which suggests a higher level of resilience among immigrant Latino college students, though with limited variables.

Conclusions Based on Combined Results

Qualitative research, along with research in the sociological and political science fields, outlines the legal barriers and limitations that result from having unstable status (Abrego, 2006; Contreras, 2009; Enriquez, 2011; Gildersleeve & Ranero, 2010; Gonzalez, 2010; 2011; Perez et al., 2010). A few studies have shown a higher degree of mental health concerns in undocumented individuals (Diaz-Strong & Meiners, 2007; Gonzales et al. 2013; Morales et al., 2009; Perez & Fortuna, 2005; Potochnick & Pereira,

2010; Sullivan & Rehm, 2005), whereas other studies suggest that immigration-related concerns affect many Latinos, regardless of documentation status (Fix & Zimmerman, 2001; Hall & Solli, 2010; Romero, 2008; Yoshikawa & Kalil, 2011). While this study suggests that immigration-related stress is limited to immigrants and may be even higher among those with unstable status, immigration-related stress may affect many Latinos, regardless of documentation status, because of the relatively common mixed status family structure (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2011), and systemic and individual discrimination that affects many Latinos (Romero, 2008). More research is needed in this area to provide more consistent results in the future.

The predictive model showed more stability in classifying the samples based on documentation status by being able to accurately predict stable status 76% of the time, and unstable status 73% of the time, as indicated by repeated measures of this predictive model using cross-validation through a jack-knife procedure. It showed less consistency when differentiating between immigrant and US born Latinos, 84% and 58% respectively, as indicated by the cross validated results. While the model showed the most overall accuracy in differentiating between stable and unstable status, it was most accurate in predicting immigrant status specifically. This suggests that the model best differentiates based on documentation status, and the difference seen in the two samples may be best explained due to differences in documentation status. In other words, the immigrant group contains individuals with stable and unstable documentation status, and the presence of those with unstable status may be inflating the results. The fact that documentation status was not accounted for in this model may have led to incorrect

assumptions regarding the experiences of immigrants in this country, which may have led to the decreased stability in this model when compared to the model focused on documentation status. This highlights the importance of including documentation status as a variable in studies in which immigrants are included, and may partially account for the inconsistent results in studies that have examined the immigrant paradox (Algeria et al., 2008; Crosnoe, 2012; Marks et al., 2014; Palacios et al., 2008).

These findings also provide some tentative suggestions that Latino college students with unstable status may have higher indicators of resiliency than even Latino immigrant college students. This is consistent with a qualitative study that found undocumented Latino high school students to be more anxious and report experiencing more barriers than immigrant Latino students from the same neighborhood, as well as a study suggesting that concerns over immigration resulted in reporting more expected barriers for one's education (Abrego, 2006; McWhirter et al., 2013).

Factors Affecting Immigration-related Stress

The data suggest that immigration-related stress might be most related to one's documentation status. In this study, prior to measuring the effects of the risk and protective factors, documentation status and immigrant status were controlled for in the analysis. In the first step, 27% of the variance was accounted for by documentation status alone; immigrant status was not a statistically significant predictor. Once all variables were included in the second step, documentation status continued to be a statistically significant predictor of immigration-related stress and had the most

predictive power. While documentation status is an important variable in explaining immigration-related stress, it is not the only contributing variable.

Of the risk and protective factors measured, cultural conflict was the only statistically significant predictor of immigration-related stress. In this case, low cultural conflict protected against experiencing immigration-related stress, while the opposite increased the risk of experiencing immigration-related stress. This variable increased the variance accounted for in immigration-related stress to 38%, a statistically significant amount. This suggests that documentation status is not sufficient in explaining the level of immigration-related stress, and that an integrated cultural identity can protect against the immigration-related stress experienced by immigrants with unstable status. While there is not direct support for this conclusion in the literature, research on acculturation informed this conclusion.

Higher cultural conflict may be an internal process present during acculturation, as the individual is becoming bicultural (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005). Cultural conflict refers to having difficulty integrating two cultures (the dominant culture and the culture of origin) in a harmonious and fluid manner (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005; Haritatos & Benet-Martinez, 2002). The ability to fluidly integrate two cultures has been identified as a protective factor referred to as fluid biculturalism (Benet-Martinez & Haritatos, 2005; Kim-Cohen, 2007). At the same time, the process of becoming bicultural can involve an internal struggle and create risk, as the indvidual may have difficulty learning to balance the values of two distinct cultures (Romero & Roberts, 2003). It may be that experiencing high levels of immigration-related stress relates to

difficulty in integrating the host culture and the culture of origin, as the individual may have difficulty feeling accepted by the mainstream culture while retaining some values of the heritage culture. In other words, how can an indvidual begin to integrate two separate cultures in a harmonious manner while feeling excluded from one of those cultures? Experiencing immigration-related stress suggests that one feels excluded and unwanted by the dominant culture. Arbona et al. (2010) found fear of deportation as uniquely contributing to extrafamilial acculturative stress, while other studies have found that immigration challenges as a group contribute to extrafamilial acculturative stress (Chavez, 1991; Hagan, Ramos, Capps, & Kabiri, 2003; Simich, 2006).

Limitations and Future Directions

One limitation in this study is that the data was collected during a single point in time. The cross-sectional nature of the data collection does not allow for the establishment of causal relationships, and only allows for the measurement of the relationship amongst the variables. In addition, a regression model does not account for error variance as accurately as a structural equation model. Due to the hidden nature of the population, a regression model is preferred because of the consideration for sample size. In addition, the sample size in this study is a limitation because of the variation in documentation and immigrant status. Another limitation related to the sample size is that the current study did not have enough power to compare the experience of only immigrant Latino college students based on documentation status. Finally, because of the sample size, it was not possible to run cross-products of the risk and protective factors to test for possible interaction effects within the variables. Future research should replicate this study using structural equation modeling and a larger sample size for a more powerful analysis. This would allow for a more direct examination of the theorized relationships. Using SEM analysis to replicate the model with a sample of Latino immigrant students with unstable status and then with a sample of Latino immigrant students with stable status would help further develop the differences found in the population based on documentation status.

Additionally, data was collected through recruitment of students participating in college-organized groups that focus on advocacy for undocumented students and on supporting the DREAM act. The civic engagement nature of these groups may have led to differences in the sample that affects the results of the data. Studies have found that civic engagement is a source of protection for undocumented students (Morales et al., 2009; Perez et al., 2010). A future study should replicate the current study, but include civic engagement as a protective measure; qualitative research suggests that this is an important factor in building resiliency. This study also did not differentiate between US born Latino students based on generational status (e.g., separate 2nd generation from 3rd generation and beyond). Having this information may have been helpful in determining how immigrant-related stress may decrease with each generation. Finally, this study did not measure academic performance as an outcome variable. Future studies should focus on academic measures as an outcome, as immigration-related stress, risk, and protective factors may affect academic outcomes.

Further, the data were collected between November 2014 and March 2015, a time-point in which in-state college tuition for undocumented immigrants who lived in

Texas was being threatened by the Texas state legislature. Many students in this group were well aware of the legal limitations that immigrants and students with unstable status faced at this time, which may have led to cohort effects in the results of the study (Cozby, 2009). For example, students with unstable status, the ones who would be affected by this law, may have been experiencing an increased level of immigration-related stress at the time of data collection, thus altering the results of immigration-related stress scale. Future studies should replicate this method during less turbulent legal periods to compare results with the current study and account for the potential of cohort effects.

Another limitation is that the current sample was restricted to Latinos at fouryear colleges. Future studies should include Latino students at different levels of education to better capture the population and increase the accuracy of predicted relationships. As it has been suggested by many studies and throughout this document, it may be that immigrant students and students with unstable status may be uniquely resilient at the college level. A study at different levels of education would help further understand the theory that only the most resilient Latino immigrants reach the collegiate level. Future research should focus on immigration-related stress and resiliency in a longitudinal method among students with unstable status. This would aid in better understanding the developmental trajectory of immigration-related stress in this specific population, as qualitative research suggests that undocumented college students experience an identity development process that results in an increase in experience of immigration-related stress (Gonzales, 2011).

In addition, the variability in documentation status and generational status may provide only a broad view of the Latino population. Future studies would benefit from measuring purer versions of these different groups to determine unique relationships. An important future study should focus on how documentation status affects the experiences of immigrant Latino college students only, and exclude nonimmigrant Latino college students. Such a study may help better understand the immigrant paradox. Related to this limitation, the immigration concerns measured may not be relevant to US born Latino students, especially those who have US born Latino parents. They may not be from mixed status families and may not perceive discrimination based on documentation assumptions of others.

In this study, the immigration-related stress scale showed some promise as a measure through its high alpha value and the relationship it had with documentation status. Research with undocumented students is often limited because of ethical considerations and possible harm of asking individuals to report on their documentation status (Lahman, Mendoza, Rodriguez, & Schwartz, 2011). Future studies should focus on validation of this measure as the scale may prove to be an adequate replacement to direct questions of documentation status.

Some studies have found that the incidence of adjustment disorders, anger problems, depression, and anxiety are higher among undocumented immigrants (Cavazos-Rehg et al., 2007; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). It may be that the high levels of immigration-related stress create an environment that facilitates the development of mental health disorders and worsens other sources of environmental stress. For example,
one study found lower family cohesion among recent Latino immigrants when undocumented status and acculturative stress were present in the family unit (Dillon, De La Rosa, & Ibanez, 2013). It would be important to further investigate this relationship within a resiliency framework to better understand mental health within this population.

Finally, a limitation of this study that should be accounted for in future studies is the lack of focus on unique cultural variables in the Latino population. It is important to understand how unique cultural values may play a role in resiliency. Future studies should include measures of Latino culture and values to determine how this relates to resiliency, academic outcomes, and immigration-related stress in Latino immigrant populations.

Clinical Implications

Practitioners, such as psychologists working at college counseling centers, may benefit from considering the effects that immigration-related stress can have on the overall well-being of their Latino clients, as well as from considering documentation status as a separate identity from immigrant status. This could allow for provision of more culturally competent interventions. For example, grit, GPA, and immigrationrelated stress differentiated student with unstable status from students with stable status. This may be important for clinicians in terms of supporting the need for awareness of the documentation status of their clients, enabling them to consider these variables when working with students with unstable status. For example, clinicians may want to capitalize on potential grit and assess for immigration-related stress as this study suggests it is present to a high degree in these individuals.

66

In addition, practitioners working with Latino college students, such as those working at college counseling centers or as academic advisors, should be prepared to consider the multiple and intersecting identities of power and privilege that may affect the academic success and healthy development of their Latino college student clients. Some examples of this include the consideration of social status, documentation status, and ethnic identity on experiences of marginality and perception of barriers. Finally, it is important for practitioners to recognize the significance of resilience among Latino immigrants at both the college level and the high school level. Practitioners should focus on using protective factors as a form of strength and fostering resiliency to increase success when working with these clients.

Conclusion

Overall, this study provided some support for the immigrant paradox, as well as support for findings in qualitative research suggesting the necessity for Latinos with unstable status to be uniquely resilient in order to continue on to college. In addition, this study suggests that immigration-related stress may be unique to immigrant Latinos and may most strongly present in those with unstable status. Future studies should focus specifically on immigrant Latinos within the varying documentation status groups. It is important to note that an integrated cultural identity can protect against unstable documentation status as it relates to immigration-related stress. While this study did not measure mediation effects due to power limitations, future studies should focus on cultural conflict and social status as mediators.

67

REFERENCES

Abrego, L.J. (2006). "I can't go to college because i don't have papers": Incorporation patterns of Latino undocumented youth. *Latino Studies, 4*, 212-231. Retrieved from http://p2048-lib-

ezproxy.tamu.edu.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com .ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/docview/748682666?accountid=7082

- Abrego, L.J. & Gonzales, R.G. (2010). Blocked paths, uncertain futures: The postsecondary education and labor market prospects of undocumented Latino youth. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR), 15*, 144-157. doi: 10.1080/10824661003635168
- Alba, R. D. & Nee, V. (1997). Rethinking assimilation theory for a new era of immigration. *International Migration Review*, 31, 826–874. doi:10.2307/2547416
- Alegria, M., Canino, G., Shrout, P.E., Woo, M., Duan, N., Vila, D., . . . Meng, X.L.
 (2008). Prevalence of mental illness in immigrant and non-immigrant U.S. Latino groups. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*, 359-369. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07040704

Arbona, C., Olvera, N., Rodriguez, N., Hagan, J., Linares, A., & Wiesner, M. (2010).
Acculturative stress among documented and undocumented Latino immigrants in the United States. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences, 32*, 362-384. doi: 10.1177/0739986310373210

- Arce, C. H., Murguia, E., & Frisbie, W. P. (1987). Phenotype and life chances among Chicanos. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 9, 19-32. doi: 10.1177/073998638703090102
- Arrington, E.G. & Wilson, M.N. (2000). A re-examination of risk and resilience during adeolescence: Incorporating culture and diversitiy. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 9, 221-230.
- Bacio, G.A., Mays, V.M., & Lau, A.S. (2013). Drinking initiation and problematic drinking among Latino adolescents: Explanations of the immigrant paradox. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 27, 14-22. doi: 10.1037/a0029996
- Barratt, W. (2006). The barratt simplified measure of social status (bsmss) measuring ses. Indiana State University. Retrieved from http://wbarratt.indstate. edu/socialclass/Barratt_Simplifed_Measure_of_Social_Status
- Barrera Jr, M., Gonzales, N.A., Lopez, V., & Fernandez, A.C. (2004). Problem
 behaviors of Chicana/o and Latina/o adolescents: An analysis of prevalence, risk, and protective factors. In R. J. Velasquez, L. M. Arellano & B. W. McNeill
 (Eds.), *The handbook of chicana/o psychology and mental health* (pp. 83-109):
 Routledge.
- Barrera Jr, M., Toobert, D., Strycker, L., & Osuna, D. (2012). Effects of acculturation on a culturally adapted diabetes intervention for Latinas. *Health Psychology*, *31*, 51. doi:10.1037/a0025205

- Batalova, J., Hooker, S., Capps, R., Bachmeier, J.D., & Cox, E. (2013). Deferred action for childhood arrivals at the one-year mark. *Migration Policy Institute*. Retrieved from http://www.cccie.org/images/stories/CIRbrief-DACAatOneYear.pdf
- Benet-Martinez, V. & Haritatos, J. (2005). Bicultural identity integration (bii):
 Components and psychosocial antecedents. *Journal of Personality*, 73, 1015-1049. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2005.00337.x
- Bernard, B. (1991). Fostering resiliency in kids: Protective factors in the family, school, and community. Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Labratory.
- Berry, J. W., Phinney, J. S., Sam, D. L., & Vedder, P. (2006). Immigrant youth: Acculturation, identity, and adaptation. *Applied Psychology*, 55, 303-332. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2006.00256.x
- Buriel, R. (2012). Historical origins of the immigrant paradox for Mexican American students: The cultural integration hypothesis. In C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks, C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks (Eds.), *The immigrant paradox in children and adolescents: Is becoming American a developmental risk?* (pp. 61-76). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13094-003.
- Capps, R., Castaneda, R. M., Chaudry, A., & Santos, R. (2007). Paying the price: The impact of immigration raids on America's children. Washington, DC: National Council of La Raza.
- Cassady, J.C. (2001). Self-reported GPA and SAT: A methodological note. *Practical* Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 7, 1-6.

- Castillo, L. G., Perez, F. V., Castillo, R., & Ghosheh, M. R. (2010). Construction and initial validation of the Marianismo Beliefs Scale. *Counseling Psychology Quarterly*, 23, 163-175. doi:10.1080/09515071003776036
- Cavazos-Rehg, P.A., Zayas, L.H., & Spitznagel, E.L. (2007). Legal status, emotional well-being and subjective health status of Latino immigrants. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *99*, 1126-1131.
- Ceballo, R. (2004). From barrios to yale: The role of parenting strategies in Latino families. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *26*, 171-186. doi: 10.1177/0739986304264572
- Cervantes, R. C., Padilla, A. M., & Salgado de Snyder, N. (1991). The Hispanic Stress Inventory: A culturally relevant approach to psychosocial assessment. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 3, 438.
- Chavez, L.R. (1991). Outside of the imagined community: Undocumented settlers and experiences of incorporation. *American Ethnologist*, *18*, 257-278.
- Condly, S.J. (2006). Resilience in children: A review of literature with implications for education. *Urban Education*, *41*, 211-236. doi: 10.1177/0042085906287902
- Contreras, F. (2009). Sin papels y ropiendo barreras: Latino students and the challenges of presisting in college. *Harvard Educational Review*, *79*, 610-631.
- Cozby, P.C. (2009). *Methods of behavioral research* (Tenth Edition ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Crosnoe, R. (2012). Studying the immigrant paradox in the Mexican-origin population. In C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks, C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks (Eds.), *The immigrant paradox in children and adolescents: Is becoming American a developmental risk?* (pp. 61-76). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13094-003
- Diaz-Strong, D. & Meiners, E. (2007). Residents, alien policy, and resistances:
 Experiences of undocumented Latina/o in chicago's colleges and universities. *InteraActions: UCLA Journal of Education and Information Studies*, *3*, 1-20.
 Retrieved from http://escholarship.org/uc/item/0671r1x2
- Dillon, F.R., De La Rosa, M., & Ibanez, G.E. (2013). Acculturative stress and diminishing family cohesion among recent Latino immigrants. *Journal of Immigant and Minority Health*, 15, 484-491. doi: 10.1007/s10903-012-9678-3
- Drachman, E. (2006). Access to higher education for undocumented students. *Peace Review*, *18*, 91-100. doi: 10.1080/10402650500511667
- Duckworth, A.L. & Quinn, P. (2009). Development and validation of the short grit scale (grit-s). *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *91*, 166-174.
- Duckworth, A.L. & Seligman, M.E. (2005). Self-discpline outdoes IQ in predicting academic performance of adolescents. *Psychological Science*, *16*, 939-944.
 Retrivied from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/40064361
- Dumont, M. & Provost, M.A. (1999). Resilience in adolescents: Protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on experience of

stress and depression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 28, 343-363. doi: 10.1023/A:1021637011732

Dunlap, W.P. & Landis, R.S. (1998). Interpretations of multiple regression borrowed from factor analysis and canonical correlation. *The Journal of General Psychology*, 125, 397-407. Retrieved from http://p2048-libezproxy.tamu.edu.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/login?url=http://search.proquest.com .ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/docview/213646898?accountid=7082

- Ellis, L.M. & Chen, E.C. (2013). Negotiating identity development among undocumented immigrant college students: A grounded theory study. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60, 251-264. doi: 10.1037/a0031350
- Enriquez, L.E. (2011). "Because we feel the pressure and we also feel the support":
 Examining the educational success of undocumented immigrant Latina/o
 students. *Harvard Educational Review*, 81, 476-499.
- Fabrigar, L. R., Wegener, D. T., MacCallum, R. C., & Strahan, E. J. (1999). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. *Psychological Methods*, 4, 272-299. doi:10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272
- Finch, F. & West, S. G. (1997). The investigation of personality structure: Statistical models. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 31, 1-85. doi:10.1006/jrpe.1997.2194
- Fix, M. & Zimmermann, W. (2001). All under one roof: Mixed-status families in an era of reform. *International Migration Review*, 35, 397-419. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/2675874

- Floyd, F. J. & Widaman, K. F. (1995). Factor analysis in the development and refinement of clinical assessment instruments. *Psychological Assessment*, 7, 286-299. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.7.3.286
- Gildersleeve, R.E. & Ranero, J.J. (2010). Precollege contexts of undocumented students: Implications for student affairs professionals. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2010, 19-33. doi: 10.1002/ss.365
- Gomez, B. & Hawkins, C. (2012). Undocumented Hispanic students pursuing higher education in the United States: A dream deffered. *Journal of Research on Women* and Gender, 5, 61-88.
- Gonzales, R.G. (2010). On the wrong side of the tracks: Understanding the effects of school structure and social capital in the educational pursuits of undocumented immigrant students. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 85, 469-485. doi: 10.1080/0161956X.2010.518039
- Gonzales, R.G. (2011). Learning to be illegal: Undocumented youth and shifting legal contexts in the transition to adulthood. *American Sociological Review*, 76, 602-619. doi: 10.1177/0003122411411901
- Gonzales, R. G. (2012). In spite of the odds: Undocumented immigrant youth, school networks, and college success. In C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks, C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks (Eds.), *The immigrant paradox in children and adolescents: Is becoming American a developmental risk?* (pp. 253-274). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13094-011

Gonzalez, R.G., & Padilla, A.M. (1997). The academic resilience of Mexican American high school students. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 19, 301-317. doi: 10.1177/07399863970193004

Gonzales, R.G., Suarez-Orozco, C., & Dedios-Sanguineti, M.C. (2013). No place to belong: Contextualizing concepts of mental health among undocumented immigrant youth in the United States. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57, 1174-1199. doi: 10.1177/0002764213487349

Gonzales, R.G., Terriquez, V., & Ruszczyk, S.P. (2014). Becoming dacamented:
Assessing the short-term benefits of deferred action for childhood arrivals
(DACA). American Behavioral Scientist, 58, 1852-1872. doi:

10.1177/0002764214550288

- Greenman, E. (2013). Educational attitudes, school peer context, and the "immigrant paradox" in education. *Social Science Research*, 42, 698-714. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.12.014
- Hagan, J., Ramos, N., Capps, R., & Kabiri, N. (2003). The effects of recent welfare and immigration reforms on immigrants' access to health care. *International Migration Review*, 444-463. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/30037845
- Hall, M. & Soli, A.R. (2010). The bumpy road ahead for Hispanic families. In N. S.
 Landale, S. McHale & A. Booth (Eds.), *Growing up Hispanic: Health and development of children of immigrants* (pp. 345-361). Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.

- Hao, L. & Ma, Y. (2012). Immigrant youth in postsecondary education. In C. G. Coll, A.
 K. Marks, C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks (Eds.) , *The immigrant paradox in children and adolescents: Is becoming American a developmental risk?* (pp. 275-296).
 Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13094-012
- Haritatos, J. & Benet-Martinez, V. (2002). Bicultural identities: The intergace of cultural, personality, and socio-cognitive processes. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 36, 598-606. doi:10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00510-X
- Hernandez, D. J., Denton, N. A., Macartney, S., & Blanchard, V. L. (2012). Children in immigrant families: Demography, policy, and evidence for the immigrant paradox. In C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks, C. G. Coll, A. K. Marks (Eds.), *The immigrant paradox in children and adolescents: Is becoming American a developmental risk?* (pp. 17-36). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13094-001
- Hernandez, J. C. & Lopez, M. A. (2004). Leaking pipeline: Issues impacting Latino/a college student retention. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 6, 37-60. doi: 10.2190/FBLY-0UAF-EE7W-QJD2
- Henson, R.K. & Robert, J.K. (2006). Use of exploratory factor analysis in published research: Common errors and some comment on improved practice. *Education* and Psychological Measurement, 66, 392-416. doi: 10.1177/0013164405282485

Heppner, P.P. & Petersen, C.H. (1982). The development and implications of a personal problem-solving inventory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 29, 66-75. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.29.1.66

Hill, N.E. & Torres, K. (2010). Negotiating the American dream: The paradox of aspirations and achievement among Latino students and engagement between their families and schools. *Journal of Social Issues*, 66, 95-112. doi:10.1111/j.1540-4560.2009.01635.x

Hollingshead, A.B. (1975). Four factor index of social status. *Yale Journal of Sociology*, 8, 21-51. Retrieved from http://elsinore.cis.yale.edu.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/sociology/yjs/yjs_fall_2011.

pdf#page=21

- Hubbard, R. & Allen, S. J. (1987). An empirical comparison of alternative methods for principal component extraction. *Journal of Business Research*, *15*, 173-190. doi:10.1016/0148-2963(84)90047-X
- Huber, L.P. & Malagon, M.C. (2007). Silenced struggles: The experiences of Latino and Latina undocumented college students in California. *Nevada Law Journal*, 7, 841-861.
- Jaffee, W.B. & D'Zurilla, T.J. (2009). Personality, problem solving, and adolescent substance use. *Behavior Therapy*, *40*, 93-101. doi:10.1016/j.beth.2008.03.001
- Kim-Cohen, J. (2007). Resilience and developmental psychopathology. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 16, 271-283, vii. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2006.11.003

- Kirk, B.A. & Saereda, L. (1969). Accuracy of self-report college grade averages and characteristics of non and discrepant reporters. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 29, 147-155. doi: 10.1177/001316446902900110
- Kline, R.B. (2011). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (D. A.Kenny Ed. Third Edition ed.). New York, New York: The Guilford Press.
- Kraemer, B.A. (1996). The academic and social integration of Hispanic students into college. *The Review of Higher Education*, 20, 163-179. Retrieved from https://muse.jhu.edu/
- Kuncel, N.R. (2005). The validity of self-reported grade point averages, class rank, and test scores: A meta-analysis and review of the liteature. *Review of Educational Research*, 75, 63-82. Retrieved from

http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/3516080

Lahman, M.K.E., Mendoza, B.M., Rodriguez, K.L., & Schwartz, J.L. (2011).

Undocumented research participants: Ethics and protection in a time of fear. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *33*, 304-322. doi:

10.1177/0739986311414162

- Marks, A. K., Ejesi, K., & García Coll, C. (2014). Understanding the US immigrant paradox in childhood and adolescence. *Child Development Perspectives*, 8, 59-64. doi:10.1111/cdep.12071
- Massey, D. S. & Denton, N. A. (1993). American apartheid: Segregation and the making of the underclass. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/2781105

- Masten, A. (1990). *Resilience in development: Implications of the study of successful adaption for developmental psychopathology*. Paper presented at the Rochester Symposium on Developmental Psychopathology, Hillsdale, N.J.
- Masten, A. & Powell, J.L. (2003). A resilience framework for research, policy, and practice. *Resilience and Vulnerability: Adaption on the Context of Childhood Adversities*, 1-25.
- Maydeu-Olivares, A. & D'Zurilla, T.J. (1997). The factor structure of the problem solving inventory. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 13, 206-215. doi:10.1027/1015-5759.13.3.206
- McWhirter, E.H., Ramos, K., & Medina, C. (2013). ¿Y ahora que? Anticipated immigration status barriers and Latina/o high school students' future expectations. *Cultural Diversity Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *19*, 288-297. doi: 10.1037/a0031814
- Miramontez, D.R., Benet-Martínez, V., & Nguyen, A.-M.D. (2008). Bicultural identity and self/group personality perceptions. *Self and Identity*, 7, 430-445. doi: 10.1080/15298860701833119
- Morales, A., Herrera, S., & Murry, K. (2009). Navigating the waves of social and political capriciousness: Inspiring perspectives from dream-eligible immigrant students. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, 10, 266-283. doi: 10.1177/1538192708330232

- North, D. S. (2009). *The immigrant paradox: The stalled progress of recent immigrants' children*. Center for Immigration Studies. Retrieved from http://cis.org/ImmigrantParadox
- O'Biran, R.M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality and Quantity*, *41*, 673-690. doi: 10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6
- O'Connor, B. P. (2000). SPSS and SAS programs for determining the number of components using parallel analysis and Velicer's MAP test. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers*, 32, 396-402.
- O'Hagan, J. & McCabe, B. (1975). Tests for the severity of multicolinearity in regression analysis: A comment. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 368-370. doi: 10.2307/1923927
- Padilla, A.M. & Gonzales, R. (2001). Academic performance of immigrant and US-born Mexican heritage students: Effects of schooling in Mexico and bilingual/English language instructions. *American Educational Research Journal, 38*, 727-742.
 Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/3202497
- Palacios, N., Guttmannova, K., & Chase-Lansdale, P. L. (2008). Early reading achievement of children in immigrant families: Is there an immigrant paradox?. *Developmental Psychology*, 44, 1381. doi:10.1037/a0012863
- Passel, J.S. (2006). The size and characteristics of the unauthorized migrant population in the US. *Pew Hispanic Center*, 7. Retrieved from http://www.pewhispanic.org/2006/03/07/size-and-characteristics-of-theunauthorized-migrant-population-in-the-us/

Pérez, M.C. & Fortuna, L. (2005). Psychosocial stressors, psychiatric diagnoses and utilization of mental health services among undocumented immigrant Latinos. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Services*, 3, 107-123. doi:

10.1300/J191v03n01_06

- Pérez, W., Cortés, R.D., Ramos, K., & Coronado, H. (2010). "Cursed and blessed":
 Examining the socioemotional and academic experiences of undocumented
 Latina and Latino college students. *New Directions for Student Services*, 131, 3551. doi: 10.1002/ss.366
- Perez, W., Espinoza, R., Ramos, K., Coronado, H.M., & Cortes, R. (2009). Academic resilience among undocumented Latino students. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences, 31*, 149-181. doi: 10.1177/0739986309333020
- Portes, A. & Zhou, M. (1993). The new second generation: Segmented assimilation and its variants. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 530, 74–96. doi:10.1177/0002716293530001006
- Potochnick, S.R. & Perreira, K.M. (2010). Depression and anxiety among firstgeneration immigrant Latino youth: Key correlates and implications for future research. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198, 470-477. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181e4ce24
- Poulsen, J. & French, A. (2008). Discriminant function analysis (pdf). from San Francisco State University. Retreivied from http://userwww.sfsu.edu/~ efc/classes/biol710/discrim/discrim

- Pyne, K.B. & Means, D.R. (2013). Underrepresented and in/visible: A Hispanic firstgeneration student's narratives of college. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 6, 186-198. doi: 10.1037/a0034115
- Resnick, G. & Burt, M.R. (1996). Youth at risk: Definitions and implications for service delivery. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 66, 172-188. doi:10.1037/h0080169
- Rodriguez, K. M., Castillo, L. G., & Gandara, L. (2013). The influence of marianismo, ganas, and academic motivation on Latina adolescents' academic achievement intentions. *Journal of Latina/o Psychology*, *1*, 218. doi:10.1037/lat0000008
- Romero, A.J. & Roberts, R.E. (2003). Stress within a bicultural context for adolescents of Mexican descent. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 9, 171-184. doi: 10.1037/1099-9809.9.2.171
- Romero, M. (2008). The inclusion of citizenship status in intersectionality: What immigration raids tells us about mixed-status families, the state, and assimiliation. *International Journal of Sociology of the Family, 34*, 131-152. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/23070749
- Sanchez, B., Colon, Y., & Esparza, P. (2005). The role of sense of school belonging and gender in the academic adjustment of Latino adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 34*, 619-628. doi: 10.1007/s10964-005-8950-4
- Schwartz, S.J., Unger, J.B., Zamboanga, B.L., & Szapocznik, J. (2010). Rethinking the concept of acculturation: Implications for theory and research. *American Psychologist*, 65, 237-251. doi: 10.1037/a0019330

Shoemaker, L.H. (2003). Fixing the f test for equal variance. *The American Statistician*, 57, 105-114. Retrieved from

http://www.jstor.org.ezproxy.library.tamu.edu/stable/30037243

Simich, L. (2006). Hidden meanings of health security: Migration experiences and systemic barriers to mental well-being among non-status migrants in Canada. *International Journal of Migration, Health, and Social Care, 2*, 16-27. doi: 10.1108/17479894200600024

- Singer, A. & Svajlenka, N.P. (2013). Immigration facts: Deferred action for childhood arrivals (DACA): The Brookings Institution. Retrieved from http://www.brookings.edu/research/reports/2013/08/14-daca-immigration-singer
- Smokowski, P.R. & Bacallao, M. (2011). *Becoming bicultural*. New York and London: New York Univserity Press.
- Suárez Orozco, C., Suarez Orozco, C., Rhodes, J., & Milburn, M. (2009). Unraveling the immigrant paradox: Academic engagement and disengagement among recently arrived immigrant youth. *Youth & Society*, 41, 151-185. doi:

10.1177/0044118X09333647

Suarez-Orozco, C., Yoshikawa, H., Teranishi, R.T., & Suarez-Orozco, M.M. (2011). Growing up in the shadows: The developmental implications of undocumented status. *Harvard Educational Review*, 81, 438-472. doi:

10.17763/haer.81.3.g23x203763783m75

Sullivan, M.M. & Rehm, R. (2005). Mental health of undocumented Mexican immigrants. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 28, 240-251.

- Tabachnick, B. G. & Fidell, L. S. (2001). Using multivariate statistics (3rd edition).Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Telles, E. M. & Ortiz, V. (2008). *Generations of exclusion: Mexican-Americans, assimilation, and race*. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Thompson, B. (2004). Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis: Understanding concepts and applications. Washington DC: American Psychological Association.
- Thompson, B. (2008). *Foundations of behavioral statistics : An insight based approach*. New York, New York: The Guilford Press.

Thompson, B. & Daniel, L. G. (1996). Factor analytic evidence for the construct validity of scores: A historical overview and some guidelines. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 56(2), 197-208. doi: 10.1177/0013164496056002001

- U.S. Census Bureau. (2012). The 2012 statistical abstract: Income, expenditures, poverity, and wealth. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2011/compendia/statab/131ed/inco me-expenditures-poverty-wealth.html
- U.S. Citizenship and Immigrations Services. (2011, May). Green card. Retrieved from http://www.uscis.gov/greencard
- Valenzuela, A. (2010). Subtractive schooling: US-Mexican youth and the politics of caring. New York: Suny Press.

- Walsh, W.B. (1967). Validity of self-report. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 14, 18. doi:10.1037/h0024227
- Werner, E.E. & Smith, R.S. (1992). *Overcoming the odds: High risk children from birth to adulthoood*: New York: Cornell University Press.
- Wichers, C.R. (1975). The detection of multicollinearity: A comment. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 366-368. doi: 10.2307/1923926
- Williams, B., Brown, T., & Onsman, A. (2010). Exploratory factor analysis: A five-step guide for novices. *Journal of Emergency Primary Health Care*, *8*, 1-13.
 Retrieved from http://ro.ecu.edu.au/jephc/vol8/iss3/1
- Yoshikawa, H. & Kalil, A. (2011). The effects of parental undocumented status on the developmental contexts of young children in immigrant families. *Child Development Perspectives*, 5, 291-297. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00204.x

APPENDIX A

TABLES

Table A-1

Means and Standard Deviations for measured variables

Variable	Ν	М	SD
Immigration-Related Stress	95	3.24	1.35
Social Status	95	26.69	13.94
Cultural Conflict	95	3.37	0.97
Grit	95	3.44	0.61
Problem Solving	95	4.55	0.64
College GPA	95	3.17	0.59

	GPA	College Level	Gender	Immigrant Status	Documentation Status	Immigrant Distress	Social Status	Grit	Problem Solving	Cultural Conflict
GPA	ł									
College Level	0.161	ł								
Gender	-0.067	0.111	ł							
Immigrant Status	0.311^{**}	0.022	-0.293**	I						
Documentation Status	0.240^{*}	0.033	0.002	0.696**	ł					
Immigrant Distress	0.196	-0.137	-0.183	0.445**	0.498^{**}	I				
Social Status	0.177	-0.025	-0.180	0.132	-0.158	0.080	ł			
Grit	0.108	0.204^{*}	0.247^{*}	0.222^*	0.264^{**}	0.040	-0.002	ł		
Problem Solving	0.001	0.241^*	0.253^{*}	0.057	0.123	0.063	-0.114	0.418^{**}	ł	
Cultural Conflict	-0.106	-0.025	0.204^{*}	-0.037	0.090	0.257^{*}	-0.204*	0.164	0.270^{**}	1
* <i>Correlation is</i> ** Correlation is	significant significant	<i>at the 0.05</i> t at the 0.01	<i>level (2-ta</i> level (2-ti	<i>iled)</i> ailed)						

Correlations among predictor variables, demographics, and outcome variables

Table A-2

Table A-3

Immigrant status		Ν	М	SD	t	df	р
Gender	1	57	1.56	0.50	-3.14	91.97	0.002**
	2	38	1.84	0.37			
College Level	1	57	2.53	1.20	0.22	93	0.829
	2	38	2.47	1.11			
Social Status	1	57	28.18	14.20	1.21	93	0.204
	2	38	24.46	13.41			
College GPA	1	57	3.32	0.44	3.35	93	0.001***
	2	38	2.93	0.70			
Immigration Stress	1	57	3.73	1.19	4.79	93	0.000***
	2	38	2.51	1.25			
Cultural Conflict	1	57	3.34	0.96	-0.36	93	0.720
	2	38	3.41	0.99			
Grit	1	57	3.55	0.62	2.19	93	0.031*
	2	38	3.28	0.58			
GT/AP	1	38	0.53	0.51	-1.02	93	0.312
	2	57	0.63	0.49			
Problem Solving	1	57	4.58	0.66	0.55	93	0.583
	2	38	4.51	0.63			

T tests for variables grouping by immigrant status

I = *Immigrant* 2= *US born Latinos*

* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$

Table A-4

Documentation Status		N	М	SD	t	df	n
Can dan	1		1 (7	0.47	<i>i</i>	<i>uj</i>	<u>P</u>
Gender	1	22	1.6/	0.47	-0.02	93	0.982
	2	40	1.68	0.47			
College Level	1	55	2.47	1.17	-0.32	93	0.750
	2	40	2.55	1.15			
Social Status	1	55	28.56	14.67	1.54	93	0.126
	2	40	24.13	12.59			
College GPA	1	55	3.04	0.65	-2.47	93	0.015*
	2	40	3.34	0.46			
Immigration Stress	1	55	2.67	1.33	-5.85	92.86	0.000***
	2	40	4.03	0.93			
Cultural Conflict	1	55	3.29	1.08	-0.87	93	0.386
	2	40	3.47	0.79			
Grit	1	55	3.30	0.57	-2.64	93	0.010**
	2	40	3.63	0.63			
GT/AP	1	55	0.58	0.50	-0.18	93	0.861
	2	40	0.60	0.50			
Problem Solving	1	55	4.48	0.65	-1.19	93	0.235
	2	40	4.64	0.63			

T tests for variables grouping by documentation status

1 = Stable 2 = Unstable * $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$

Table A-5

Immigration-Related Stress									
Variable	В	SE B	Beta	F/t	R^2	р			
Step 1				16.71	0.27	0.000***			
Documentation Status	0.992	0.330	0.370	2.94		0.004**			
Immigrant Status	0.521	0.340	0.190	1.53		0.130			
Step 2				12.53	0.29	0.000***			
Documentation Status	1.038	0.335	0.382	3.10		0.003**			
Immigrant Status	0.245	0.369	0.089	0.66		0.509			
Years in US	-0.045	0.025	-0.184	-1.82		0.072			
Step 3				7.73	0.38	0.000***			
Documentation Status	1.158	0.345	0.426	3.35		0.001***			
Cultural Conflict	0.385	0.125	0.277	3.08		0.003**			
Immigrant Status	0.278	0.371	0.102	0.75		0.455			
Grit	-0.320	0.212	-0.146	-1.51		0.135			
Problem Solving	0.031	0.200	0.015	0.16		0.875			
Years in US	-0.033	0.024	-0.135	-1.38		0.171			
Social Status	0.016	0.009	0.170	1.83		0.071			

Hierarchical Linear Regression – *Immigration-Related Stress* –n = 95

* $p \le 0.05$; ** $p \le 0.01$; *** $p \le 0.001$

APPENDIX B

FIGURES

Figure B-1

Graphic representation of predicted group membership for documentation status



Predicted Group for Analysis 1

1=stable status, 2=unstable status

Figure B-2





0 = US born Latinos, 1 = immigrant